
Date Published:Republished 3 September 2021 to include an amended report for agenda item 5

    

Environment Scrutiny Committee

Thursday 9 September 2021 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Chair

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 20)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 16 June and 14 
July 2021.

Chair

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

4  MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR OF HIGHWAYS (Pages 21 - 32)

To consider the attached report.

Kathryn 
Haworth

5  MOTION 876 - CALL TO ADOPT 20MPH MAXIMUM SPEEDS IN 
AREAS WHERE VULNERABLE ROAD USERS AND VEHICLES 
MIX (Pages 33 - 50)

To consider the issues surrounding the widespread introduction of 20mph 
maximum speeds as raised in the Motion 876 to Council In June 2021.

Liz Kirkham, 
Cllr Gill 
Moseley, Cllr 
Roger 
Whyborn

6  WORK PLAN (Pages 51 - 52)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings. (Work plan attached).

Chair

INFORMATION ITEMS

7  DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE (Pages 53 - 66)

Colin Chick



    

To note the update report from Colin Chick, Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure on current issues (Quarter 1 
2021/22 performance data included). 

Any questions should be sent to Sophie Benfield (Democratic Service) via 
email for a response (any responses will be shared with all members).

8  FUTURE MEETINGS 

23 November 2021
Additional: 20 October 2021 (Joint item with Economic Growth Scrutiny)
12 January 2022
9 March 2022
24 May 2022

Chair

Membership –  Cllr Alex Hegenbarth, Cllr Chris McFarling (Vice-Chair), Cllr Dominic Morris 
(Chair), Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Roger Whyborn 
and Cllr Susan Williams 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
(Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the 
start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday 16 
June 2021 virtually.

PRESENT:
Cllr Roger Whyborn
Cllr Susan Williams
Cllr Alex Hegenbarth
Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Dominic Morris (Chair)

Cllr Gill Moseley
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Sajid Patel

Officers in attendance: Kathryn Haworth, Colin Chick, Simon Excell, Philip Williams 
and Wayne Lewis

1. APOLOGIES 

No apologies were received. 

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

Members were advised that as the legislation allowing local authorities to hold 
meetings virtually came to an end in May, any meetings now held remotely would 
not be formal meetings. 

This meeting was an introductory session to the Committee and therefore any 
formal business could not be carried out. Members were advised to give thought to 
their nominations for vice-chair ready for the next formal meeting of the Committee.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received.

4. INTRODUCTION TO THE COMMITTEE 

4.1 Colin Chick, Executive Director for Economy, Environment and Infrastructure 
(EE&I), introduced the department to the Committee and explained that 
introductory presentations would follow from four of the six Lead 
Commissioners/Heads of Service within EE&I, and covering the main areas 
that came within the Committees scope. 

4.2 Members noted how closely linked the economic and environment agendas 
had become, meaning the department often had to find a balance between 
improving one but not damaging the other at the same time.

4.3 The first presentation was received from Simon Excell, Lead Commissioner 
for Strategic Infrastructure and members noted the following:

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

 Gloucestershire was a growing county, but also a very constrained 
county. Slide 1 showed the Central Seven Vale where 60-65% of the 
county’s future growth would be located. 

 The natural constraints within this area were represented on the key, 
namely the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the green belt, 
active flood plains and the Forest of Dean area. 

 In addition the second key showed different levels of development for the 
county from actively ongoing to future potential.

 Whilst it was not GCC’s role or responsibility to dictate future planning 
(this was the responsibility of the district councils), what it could and tried 
to do was heavily influence the quantum, location and type of future 
development. 

 As an authority it had many duties to provide infrastructure which was 
often dictated by future developments e.g. highways and education 
provision. 

 To give members a flavour, it was advised that there were currently 
between 3-4,000 new houses (county-wide) due each year.

 The team also undertook the role of Lead Local Flood Authority. Since 
the major flooding in 2007, the County Council had ring-fenced monies 
for delivering flood alleviation works. As a minimum, there was a £2.1m 
spend per annum. 

 The team also commented on all major planning applications to make 
sure districts and developers were aware of any potential impacts on 
flood risk and how to mitigate these.

 As a predominantly rural county, GCC had a statutory responsibility and 
duty to produce AONB management plans for the three areas 
(Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills).

 The county is rich in heritage, and amongst other things it was home to 
important Roman settlements. The team therefore also comment on 
planning applications to help find a balance between enabling 
development but not to the detriment of Gloucestershire’s valuable 
history.

 There was a statutory responsibility to produce a number of plans 
including the Minerals Local Plan, Waste Core Strategy, Local Transport 
Plan etc.

 Gloucestershire was very rich in minerals; GCC was required to 
determine quantum and location of all future mineral extraction.

 Likewise the Waste Core Strategy outlined the location and management 
of waste (the waste disposal function is with the Waste Management 
team).

 It was the team’s responsibility to negotiate and secure appropriate 
developer contributions for housing developments. It was vital for these to 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

be secured to ensure future growth was supported by the relevant 
infrastructure. There was a Local Development Guide which enhanced 
the ability to negotiate and secure these monies.

 Unfortunately this had not been helped by the introduction of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. For the areas that used this instead of 
S106, it had put the responsibility in the hands of the district councils to 
secure the contributions so there was often a battle to ensure GCC 
secured the required monies.

 Finally the Fastershire programme was a joint roll out with Herefordshire 
Council to provide fast broadband to all residents. The programme had 
done exceptionally well with an over 97% rollout rate to date.

4.4 The second presentation was received from Phillip Williams, Lead 
Commissioner for Community Infrastructure and members noted the 
following:

 The key areas within Community Infrastructure required a high level of 
cooperation with other authorities. The quality of relationships was very 
important, as was scrutiny as a channel for officers to understand what 
the county’s priorities were, whilst also making the most of councillor’s 
valuable local knowledge and connections within their divisions.

 The provision of quality housing and transport access were key to the 
quality of life residents expected and linked directly back to the Council’s 
key priorities. The challenge for the department was to make sure the 
budget provided reasonable and responsible polices.

 Highways Development Management required a lot of liaison with local 
planning authorities, advice on the appropriateness of the highways 
aspect of new developments (new junctions, public transport services, 
cycle ways etc.).

 Integrated Transport Unit covered a social responsibility and duty to 
provide transport in terms of subsidised travel. Public transport access 
was critical for resident’s wellbeing, access to jobs and education. Out of 
the 21m journeys each year about 10% of those were subsided by GCC.

 It also covered the expanding active travel network, the e-scooter pilot 
and fleet management for the authority. There were fantastic active travel 
proposals across the county but it took time to build the capacity and 
expertise to deliver these schemes.

 Highways Network Management covered on-street parking, road safety, 
road signals and highways records. 

 Sustainability was a growing departmental challenge. It covered all work 
in relation to the climate change and air quality agendas.

 The team also managed the gypsy and traveller sites in the county. There 
were currently four sites with just under 400 residents. Work was ongoing 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

to invest in the quality of accommodation provided and looking at ways to 
improve their access to affordable energy, health care etc.

 The overarching priority for the department through all of the above 
responsibilities was to support and promote healthier, safer and more 
sustainable choices for residents.

4.5 The third presentation was received from Kathryn Haworth, Lead 
Commissioner for Highways and members noted the following:

 The Highways department focused on the delivery of service – the 
maintenance of what we had and the construction of what we needed.

 Across the department there are 120 FTE members of staff, plus a 
number of external providers that the team worked very closely with.

 The network the team looked after was vast. There was 3500 miles of 
carriageway (which included the footways, verges etc.), another 3500 
miles of public rights of way (PROW), over a 1000 bridges, thousands of 
street lights etc. This often meant there was a need to balance the needs 
of the network as a whole with local issues.

 The operations team was managed by Jenny Goodson, and they looked 
after day to day operations, PROW, policy and statutory work, as well as 
the support for customers, councillors, parishes etc.

 The capital delivery side of the business was managed by Mark Darlow-
Joy and this covered all strategic and local road network projects, major 
resurfacing, street lighting maintenance etc.

 In addition there was also a customer contact team.
 Pages 16-20 of the reports pack gave an overview of the key areas and 

contracts managed by the team.
 The council had a Highways Skills Academy which offered 

apprenticeships and construction skills development. This was a really 
important long-term focus for the department due to the huge shortage of 
and high demand on skilled construction workers.

 The Local Highways Managers were set out on pages 21-22. They were 
a key contact for members to develop a productive working relationship 
with to allocate their Highways Local Fund (HLF) amongst other things.

 The Ash Die Back programme was one of the current major programmes. 
It was estimated for Gloucestershire there were 30,000 highways trees 
that needed to be addressed. There was a programme to deal with those 
identified as diseased which most often required felling due to the huge 
safety concern of them failing on the highway, but the council had 
committed to replacing two for each one felled.

4.6 The fourth presentation was received from Wayne Lewis, Head of Waste, 
and members noted the following:

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 The waste disposal team was made up of eight full time employees and 
oversaw a £35m revenue budget per annum.

 All responsibilities for waste were set out in law via the Environmental 
Protection Act (page 29).

 GCC was responsible for the treatment and disposal of all household 
waste in the county and providing access to Household Recycling 
Centres for items that were not suitable for the kerbside collections.

 The district authorities were the waste collection authority and therefore 
were responsible for all kerbside collections, street cleaning and fly 
tipping clean up.

 The Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership was established 
in 2019 to develop long term strategic management of waste across the 
different authorities, and also to enable working together on 
communication and community involvement functions.

 Page 31 gave a picture representation of the true costs of waste disposal. 
Whilst there was an annual budget off £35m, every product discarded 
took with it a plethora of hidden costs which left the true cost being ten 
times that amount.

 The waste hierarchy was enshrined in law for all councils and businesses 
to consider when making decisions on their waste policies. The goal was 
to do more of the top and less of the bottom. In practise Gloucestershire 
was operating more of a diamond shape – there was a lot of recycling 
and recovery, a lot less disposal but not enough on prevention.

 In 2019 the team undertook an in-depth analysis on residual waste and 
page 33 showed the findings.

 There were a number of local actions being supported by GCC which 
were summarised on page 35.

 The communications plan was annually reviewed by all members of the 
Partnership before being enacted and covered all sections outlined on 
page 36.

 Whilst recycling was managed by district councils, GCC supported this by 
paying recycling credits and a locally agreed incentive cost. These 
payments were in recognition of the saving in disposal costs for the 
county.

 The five provided HRCs were currently managed by Ubico which was a 
local authority owned company and the team were responsible for selling 
the waste streams collect there.

 The local recycling rate was currently 51% which was above the national 
average but recognising both averages had become stagnated in recent 
years. There was a need for continued investment.

 When all of the above efforts were exhausted, waste was disposed via 
the Energy from Waste plant. It was currently processing 130,000 tonnes 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

of residual household waste each year which had massively reduced the 
county’s reliance on landfill.

 The waste materials were then used to generate energy for 25,000 
homes each year. Page 39 showed a run through of the process and it 
was noted members would be invited to visit the plant as soon as Covid 
restrictions allowed.

Questions

4.7 There was a question about library contribution requests. It was advised 
there was a Local Development Guide which set out what the council asked 
for in terms of contributions and why they asked for it. There was also an 
annual Infrastructure Funding Statement published of all contributions asked 
for and received. To note this was published a year in hand so the most 
recent available figures were published in December 2020.

4.8 It was noticed that the contact centre number for highways had been 
changed to emergency calls only, it was therefore queried whether GCC had 
seen a reduction in the number of calls coming through and therefore an 
increase in contact made in other ways (email/social media).

4.9 Members heard that the contact centre had moved to emergency only due to 
Covid and the need for shift working etc. The department were now looking 
to restart some contacts through the telephone (in line with the Government 
roadmap) which was often a lot easier for the more complicated issues. It 
was highlighted however for simple issues such as reporting potholes, the 
online tools were much better as the jobs were automatically assigned 
through the automated system.

4.10 Social media was helpful in terms of sharing messages and the council had 
a very popular media feed called ‘Glos Roads’ which was well followed but in 
terms of reporting issues, the general approach on social media was to divert 
people to the correct streams.

4.11 Members were advised that following Sally Godwin’s promotion, there was 
an ongoing recruitment process for the new Local Highways Manger for 
Gloucester but in the meantime members should liaise with Martyn Midgley. 

4.12 On footpath inspections, it was questioned whether there was a formalised 
system beyond reports being made by members of the public/councillors. It 
was advised there was a regular inspection programme for all highways 
assets. Depending on the classification of the carriageway, this would either 
be a quarterly or annual inspection and the accompanying footways would 
be inspected at the same time. In addition, high use footpaths e.g. in town 
centres were also categorised and received a walked inspection. 

4.13 There was frustration from members on the tight turnaround for them to 
allocate their 2020/21 highways local funding. Officers sympathised that this 
was especially difficult for the number of new members who were still settling 

Page 6

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/gloucestershire-local-development-guide/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/infrastructure-funding-statement-ifs/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2155/highway_safety_inspection_policy-60408.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

in to their new roles. It was advised the constraints that Covid and an 
election had brought this past year had been exceptional. Normally LHM 
would be working through the year with their members anticipating highways 
local funding in the next financial year.

4.14 As it was revenue funding, it needed to be spent within the financial year and 
that meant contractors needed to know as soon as possible to allocate the 
works appropriately. Members were advised to do as best they could to meet 
the deadline, close working with their LHM would provide support on this.

4.15 In addition it was always good to check with the LHM if any other funding 
pots were available in certain areas where monies could be blended from 
different sources.

4.16 Noting the many different avenues customers may contact highways, a 
member asked whether there were any discussion on automating the 
reporting service e.g. into an app. Members would be aware of the front end 
system Report It which allowed customers to report issues on the network 
online/via a mobile. There had been other technology innovations as well 
such as video based inspections. In terms of implementing a fully automated 
system from front to back office, this was currently a very difficult task but 
something that would always be considered.

4.17 It was confirmed that Highways Local Fund (HLF)  was separate to any 
funding allocated as part of the administrations manifesto and any further 
information on this would be shared when available.

4.18 On waste monitoring, it was informed in addition to monitoring recycling 
rates, the team also measured residual waste per household which were 
both published on a set basis: https://www.wastedataflow.org/

4.19 A member highlighted that if waste levels continued to reduce, might this 
compromise the need for the Energy from Waste plant and therefore lead to 
the need to import waste. Although the Council was committed to reducing 
waste, there was still a long term requirement for the facility as not 
everything could be recycled and due to population increases year on year. 
In the lifetime of the facility, Gloucestershire’s population was predicted to 
grow by the equivalent of a new district.

4.20 It was queried whether there was any way of removing recyclable and 
combustible products that had ended up in residual waste from the EfW 
facility before it was burned. I was advised that this had been ruled out as 
the facility did not have the capability, nor did any others around the country. 
At the point of waste arriving at the facility, it would be incredibly difficult to 
separate and recover any materials without contamination concerns. Instead 
authorities were working together on improved education for dealing with 
waste correctly. 

Page 7

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/your-highways-report-it/
https://www.wastedataflow.org/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

4.21 Finally a member asked whether there was any future chance of a scheme 
to link the A38 and the A40 highlighted in the JCS being delivered. It was 
confirmed at present the scheme was unfunded and would remain on the ‘to 
do’ list until monies became available.

5. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

5.1 Colin Chick, Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure, 
updated the Committee on current issues. In particular, members noted that:

 The term maintenance contract was in its third year and was going well. 
GCC had won awards for collaborative working.

 The Highways Skills Academy was also doing very well and was bringing 
through young people, generally from the county, into careers in the 
highways transport sector. It had just brought online its first advanced 
apprenticeship. 

 Highways delivery was still feeling the affects of an incredibly bad winter 
(due to front line staff being on emergency standby from the flooding in 
December until early March from a ‘perfect storm’ of weather events 
impacting the road surfaces).

 This had resulted in 16,000 potholes being repaired from the beginning of 
January until end of April 2021, estimated at 1000 repairs per week, on 
top of all the other work of gritting etc.

 The highways winter maintenance budget overspent by £250,000 last 
financial year and £500,000 on responsive maintenance. Two months 
into this financial year, the team were still repairing damage from winter 
2020/21.

 The impact on staff saw almost double the amount of gangs being 
needed on the network in comparison to last winter. 

 M5 J10 was moving forward very well with the Preferred Route being 
announced yesterday.

 GCC were working with Tewkesbury Borough, acting as advisors on the 
design and implementation of the bridge at Ashchurch which would open 
up the first part of the Garden Town Development.

 The CPO orders for the South West Bypass development had been 
approved. There was now a Judicial Review period until the end of 
August with construction due to start in January 2022.

 This project had always been dependent upon funding being secured 
from Government. The initial bid had been made to the ‘Pinch Point’ 
funding scheme, however had now been incorporated into the ‘Levelling 
Up’ funding pot and therefore required a new application. A combined bid 
(to include the B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme project) 
was therefore now being submitted.

 Funding had been secured from Government (£1.3m) for two demand 
responsive public transport trials in the FOD and Cotswolds.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

 There were ongoing issues with the county receiving any monies from 
developments through the new Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The 
potential financial loss to the council of this continuing could be millions.

5.2 Noting the major concern around CIL monies, it was added that the county 
had been trying for several months to secure agreement to commission an 
external study on the issue. Unfortunately this had only just made 
procurement and therefore once in place would be many months after it was 
initially needed. 

5.3 The main issue with using the CIL arrangement over S106 was the amounts 
that could be taken off an already very limited pot of money. The districts 
were able to charge an admin fee against the monies and if there were any 
neighbourhood plans where the development was, up to 25% of the 
remaining fund could be taken. Several members requested for an urgent 
item to be added to the Committee’s work plan.

ACTION: DSU

5.4 A member raised that there was adverse weather reports approaching for 
the county and questioned whether the network was ready if we did have 
another risk of flooding. It was advised that it was as ready as ever but could 
never commit 100%. There was always a possibility of flash flooding and 
dangerous driving conditions when there was very heavy short falls of rain, 
what was different in December however was the ground already being so 
saturated before the bad weather hit.

5.5 Noting that the FOD had two Innovation Labs due to its rural nature, it was 
questioned whether there had been considered of the Cotswolds also having 
a second Lab. It was advised this would be completely dependent on funding 
which wasn’t available at the moment.

5.6 Finally on the rural transport trials, it was questioned whether there would be 
a review of the trial within the two year period to ascertain if it could be 
expanded to other rural communities in Gloucestershire.

5.7 It was confirmed that the reason for the trial was to understand whether it 
was more efficient and cost effective to provide this type of demand 
responsive travel, as opposed to the current subsidy arrangement for rural 
transport. The project was in its infancy and more time would be needed to 
see if it worked as hoped. The council had used the money from Govt. to buy 
four fully accessible minibuses which would remain with the council 
regardless.

6. WORK PLAN 

Members noted the future items in the attached work plan and suggested the 
following to be added:

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

 Issues surrounding the Community Infrastructure Levy and S106 
 Highway repairs  – methods and processes
 Local Transport Plan
 Flooding – lessons learnt from the December 2020 flood events and future 

action
 School street trials
 Climate Change Action Plan – to understand whether Gloucestershire is on 

track to meet its commitments and explore whether the plan is ambitious 
enough to address the crisis at hand

 E-scooters trial

It was confirmed the Chair would share a draft work plan proposal with members to 
consider following the meeting.

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 13:00.

Page 10



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday 14 
July 2021 virtually.

PRESENT:
Cllr Alex Hegenbarth
Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Dominic Morris (Chair)
Cllr Gill Moseley

Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Roger Whyborn
Cllr Susan Williams

Officers in attendance: Colin Chick, Ben Watts, James Blockley, Cllr David Gray 
(Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning) and Cllr 
Philip Robinson (Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and 
Skills)

Apologies: Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Sajid Patel and Simon Excell

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Phil Awford declared an interest as GCC’s representative for the 
Wessex/Severn Wye at the Regional Flood Defence Committee.

3. DECEMBER 2020 FLOODING: LESSONS LEARNT AND FUTURE ACTION 

3.1 The Chair invited James Blockley, Flood Risk Manager, to present this item. 
The report was taken as read and members noted the following points:

 This report was an updated version of the one received at Committee in 
March this year. It reflected lessons learnt and actions taken from the 
December 2020 flood events.

 The team had been incredibly busy throughout this year actioning what 
had been identified. This included officers at GCC but also every other 
partner that had engaged to make improvements possible.

 Whilst partnerships had mainly been identified in the initial debrief 
sessions in December, new partnerships had also been identified since 
then.

 Key lessons learnt centred on the lack of revenue funding to support the 
critical role of district council colleagues. Also that improvements in 
releasing Govt. framework funding remained incredibly important in 
addressing flood response going forward.

 Officers had discussed the funding framework issue at length and felt it 
desperately needed updating. They felt it would be better for monies to 
be ring-fenced and allocated by the county councils, as they were often 
very quickly aware of the overall impacts on the ground.

 Gloucestershire officers knew within days that the December 2020 event 
it was the most significant the county had seen in many, many years and 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

felt it was completely let down by the lack of national funding coming 
forward in the aftermath.

 There was currently an open letter being formulated from the English 
Severn and Wye lead local flood authorities for Govt.

 The report detailed 30 areas of project development and investigation, 20 
of which had resulted directly from December. These actions ranged from 
initial investigations needed (what caused the flooding and what could be 
done to future mitigate it) through to knowing the issue and how to 
alleviate it but a need to identify funding.

 There had been a number of multi-agency partnerships formed in specific 
locations to explore any opportunities for collaboration and pooling 
resources in order to deliver the needed improvements.

 A case study example was shared for a small village in the Cotswolds, 
Bledington. During the December floods, it was worst hit community in 
the county with 29 properties being affected.

 Very early on in the event, the team met with the local flood group and 
convened a couple of multi-agency meetings to investigate the cause.

 It was identified that a local brook bank had eroded so there was 
currently a design in development to repair this. The team were also 
investigating the repair of an existing flood defence mechanism. 

 What was key however was to not only understand what happened 
downstream, but also water management in the upper catchments.

 The team were therefore currently working with a landowner upstream 
who had shown interest in using their land for flood alleviation and 
possibly creating a wetland. This would not only have a dramatic benefit 
on slowing the amount of water that reached Bledington, but also many 
other environmental advantages such as biodiversity.

 The officer was exceedingly proud of the flood risk team at GCC but fully 
acknowledged the work done to date would not have been possible 
without the cooperation from other agencies and local communities.

 Flood management was at the cutting edge of climate change resilience 
and was helping communities adapt and cope with the impacts on 
extreme weather.

3.2 A member stressed the importance and benefits of upper catchment natural 
flood management. The processes were less expensive than hard 
engineering (flood walls etc.) and brought additional benefits to the 
surrounding environment such as slow release of water during droughts. As 
climate change brought an increased likelihood of extreme weather events, 
the county needed to think more strategically for its short and long term 
planning, and reduce the initial risk of flooding, rather than just adapting and 
paying the cost after.

3.3 There was also a need to liaise with water companies on improvements to 
the network to avoid an overflow of sewage into flood waters and to improve 
the maintenance of highways drains in order to allow them capacity to cope 
during heavy rainfall.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

3.4 Comments were echoed of he need for district colleagues to be better 
resourced. Whilst staffing issues at other councils was not something GCC 
could comment upon, it was advised that GCC did all they could to support 
colleagues but absolutely agreed there was a need to expand the teams 
where possible.

3.5 A member raised they were currently liaising on setting up a multi-agency 
forum in their division, which involved working with those residents and local 
stakeholders who were directly affected by flood events. These forums were 
useful to draw on the knowledge of residents, helping them to be involved, 
and to give a knowledge of the bigger picture. There was an element of 
model shift needed in people’s thinking that we would have to learn to live 
with a certain amount of flooding.

3.6 An officer added that at a county level, a twin track approach to multi-agency 
forums was vital. Whilst the public forums were useful for all the above 
reasons, there also had to be a space of agencies to operate outside of the 
community/political environment in order to inform the wider approach.

3.7 Highlighting the multiple schemes mentioned within the report, a member 
asked how they would be prioritised. It was advised that the prioritisation 
approach would look  at many factors such as feasibility, but it would also 
have an element of taking opportunities where they arose, regardless of a 
schemes priority rating.

3.8 Noting the level of development ongoing in Gloucestershire at the moment, it 
was questioned what future preventative plans there were to avoid increased 
flood risk. It was explained this came within the Council’s role as a statutory 
consultee on major development. There were two full time officers at GCC 
who scrutinised and commented on flood risk assessments and drainage 
strategies to make sure the level of surface water leaving the site was the 
same or less than before the development.

3.9 A member asked whether there were any standardised plans and support 
from GCC to help local parish and town councils develop their flood 
strategies in readiness. Officers welcomed the members support in this area 
and advised help would always be offered where possible. In terms of county 
strategy development, the department were currently looking to start a 
review of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and the Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment to reflect new and evolved thinking around risk 
management and extreme weather.

3.10 Members requested to receive a further update in advance of this years flood 
season on actions for improvement identified in this report. This should 
include RAG ratings against each in terms of how much progress has been 
made.

ACTION: James Blockley

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

4. SECTION 106 AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

4.1 Ben Watts, Outcome Manager, presented this item. The report was taken as 
read and the following points were highlighted:

 GCC was responsible for delivering specific infrastructure and services 
and ensuring new developments did not adversely impact upon the 
capacity of existing services or the ability to deliver them.

 Many planning applications / permissions were therefore subject to 
developer contributions in the form of planning obligations. These could 
be via planning agreements (S106 Agreements) considered alongside 
Highways Contributions S278 and CIL. 

 CIL was applied on a formulate basis across a CIL charging area i.e. a 
district planning area, which was different to the application of S106 
which was specific to planning areas. 

 Whilst CIL and S106 could run alongside each other, there could not be a 
situation where developers paid twice for the same infrastructure.

 As GCC was only a consultee to the planning process, officers were able 
to provide comment on the financial requirements for infrastructure but it 
was the role of  Local Planning Authority (LPA) to decide. They were 
under no obligation to agree with GCC’s consultation response and 
request the monies.

 This had become a particular concern for GCC in its role as Education 
Authority.  To date no CIL money had been allocated from LPAs for 
education provision. 

 The introduction of CIL had also led to significantly reduced or declined 
S106 contributions. This meant GCC had lost millions of pounds in 
developer contributions in recent years.

 Finally, members were informed of a recent criticism of the methodology 
GCC used for calculating developer contributions for a planning 
application at Coombe Hill. A detailed review was currently underway on 
this ruling and due to conclude in 2022.

4.1 Several members queried why it was felt the CIL monies had not been 
forthcoming, particularly in relation to education.

4.2 It was advised that firstly, there was an overall issue with the amount of 
money raised initially. It was not enough to cover the costs to begin with, let 
alone after 30% was taken for admin and neighbourhood plan charges. 
There were also issues of viability, Gloucestershire was an expensive place 
to develop and therefore required a high level of CIL monies to provide the 
necessary infrastructure. It was up to the LPA’s Planning Committee to make 
decisions on the application and it was felt there may be other more pressing 
financial priorities, leaving CIL as a non-viable charge to add on top of the 
other costs charged to the developers. Finally the two tier system of local 
government in Gloucestershire meant the county council did not have a 
voice or a role in the decision making process and could only provide 
comment. 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

4.3 It was questioned whether councils should be looking at other ways to raise 
the money for education if this avenue was clearly failing, for example, 
through council tax.

4.4 Officers advised that the council did receive a level of funding from 
Government for education places, but this was in terms of natural growth 
need, rather than additional need required due to the new developments. 
The idea behind the charge schemes was for the developer to fill the gap 
and pay for impacts directly linked to their development. Council tax 
payments went towards the ongoing revenue costs of education and 
CIL/S106 should be covering the upfront capital costs of providing the place 
to begin with. 

4.5 A member questioned if the charging regulations used by the LPA applied 
when the county council acts as planning authority such as for a new school.  

ACTION: COLIN CHICK/BEN WATTS

4.6 In relation to library contributions it was queried why the contributions were 
often used for revenue purchases (new books) and how members could 
keep track of the amounts and where they were spent.

4.7 Members were advised that it was a requirement of all LPA’s to publish 
annual statements detailing contributions and where they were used, noting 
however this was a year in arrears. In terms of what they were spent on, the 
contributions went into a library pool and justifiable charges were then made. 
Apparent revenue spends would sometimes qualify due to the need to 
expand library resources because of population increases.

4.8 Section 5.5 of the report notified members of a challenge the council had 
received on the approach towards requesting education contributions for a 
particular development at Coombe Hill. An immediate interim position had 
been published, taking the challenge into account and outlining the approach 
that would be followed in the short term. 

4.9 In addition, a more detailed review of the methodology was underway and 
expected to conclude in 2022. Whilst the council would remain exposed to 
the reduced charges until the review had concluded, it gave a chance to 
consult industry experts to make sure the revised dataset was robust, whilst 
also working with districts to make sure they appreciated and understood the 
new approach in a hope to avoid ongoing conflicts.

4.10 Members were incredibly concerned that 4.3 of the report stated no CIL 
contributions had been paid to the county council from 5 of the 6 district 
councils, and at what point the monies had been withheld.

4.11 Officers advised they had tried for over a year to set up a joint study with the 
districts but had faced difficulty in agreeing how this would be funded. 
Eventually the county offered to pay for the study alone in order to avoid 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

anymore delay. Noting the difficulty faced locally, it was agreed that this 
would need a lead nationally from MHCLG. Officers had now approached 
and were working with the County Council Network to use combined 
pressure to make a case to Government. It was added discussions had 
started nationally on introducing a new system for infrastructure charging but 
this would likely not be implemented in the near future.

4.12 In concluding this item, the Committee requested that their serious concern 
and frustration at the current situation was sent in writing to the lead Cabinet 
Member, and to show their support for discussions to be had at officer and 
member level to find a resolution.

ACTION: DSU

5. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

5.1 Colin Chick, Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure, 
updated the Committee on current issues. In particular, members noted that:

 The council’s offer on the ash die back programme of planting two trees 
for every one felled had received a positive response, but it was then vital 
that the right tree was planted in the right place, taking into account the 
required upkeep and safety concerns of planting large trees on the 
highway network.

 The J10 Preferred Route had been announced on 16 June, GCC was 
therefore currently in process of contacting people and working with land 
agents to address any land impact issues.

 The Gloucestershire South West Bypass project was moving forward 
following delays from Covid impacts. A bid had been submitted into the 
Levelling Up Fund to make up the shortfall in funding and the aim was to 
be on site by the end of this year.

 West Cheltenham scheme was due to have Phases 1 & 2 finished this 
summer, with Phases 3, 4 and the cycle scheme element due to finish in 
spring 2022.

 The Emergency Active Travel Fund was currently being used to complete 
the cycle route ‘spine’ through the county. The London Road Gloucester 
section was complete, the next section would then link from the end of 
London Road through to Arle Court in Cheltenham. This was due to be 
on site by the end of the year if not earlier.

 Once this section was complete, it would link up to the A40 West 
Cheltenham cycle scheme and would result in a cycle route from the 
edge of Gloucester to the train station in Cheltenham.

 The next phase would then be to link from Black Dog Way in Gloucester 
to the Canal path and out towards Stroud.

 GCC had secured £1.3m national funding to trial the responsive public 
transport system in Cotswolds and the FOD. Four mini buses would be 
purchased with the money and run a two year test trial.

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

 The appointment times at all the HRCs had improved, additional spaces 
were able to be released due to Covid restrictions reducing. A booking 
system was still being favoured by resident to continue.

 The reopening of the Energy from Waste visitor and education centre 
was due imminently. It had been closed through the pandemic with 
outreach work being completed virtually.

5.2 An action was taken to look into the delay in signing off the Lydney cycle 
scheme that had been funded via the LEP.

ACTION: Colin Chick

5.3 It was questioned whether the county had an overarching tree strategy 
document that detailed numbers, areas, timelines, costs etc. for the county’s 
future tree planting.

5.4 It was advised that GCC’s 1m tree planting target had originally had hooked 
onto the Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership Strategy for tree planting. 
It continued to be a battle to find the appropriate land for this level of tree 
planting and the funding to deliver. It was added the strategy was mentioned 
in a number of other documents such as the Climate Change Action Plan.

5.5 The Cabinet Member for this area agreed there needed to be an overarching 
strategy for the county, but that it also needed a wider focus than just trees, 
to include targets on biodiversity, CO2 capture, wetlands etc. There were a 
number of measures that GCC could capture on a dashboard to show 
whether the momentum was moving in the right direction and whether it was 
succeeding.

5.6 A member asked whether the county would be able to develop a carbon 
audit which would sit alongside the economic business case for major 
development to help understand how we were mitigating the emissions 
created.

5.7 It was advised that the Council as a corporate body had targets for carbon 
neutrality which was progressing very well. Unfortunately a wider audit for 
the county as a geographical area was very difficult to produce as it would 
rely on the input of partners and due to the level of resource needed. Major 
projects such as M5 J10 and J9 had their own very extensive environmental 
checks within the business case. The point was noted and advised it would 
be explored via the new climate change coordinator post that had just been 
recruited to.

5.8 On the performance indicators at the end of the report, it was stressed that a 
52% satisfaction rate with highways was pretty poor and questioned what the 
council could do to address it. Officers accepted that previous cuts to the 
highways budget over many years had recently begun to show its impacts. 
Over the last few years the council had focused on putting more money in to 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

bring the A and B road network back up to standard, the next step was to put 
in additional funds for the unclassified road network.

5.9 The Chair requested that members put any further specific issues on 
highways in an email to DSU in preparation for the September meeting item.

5.10 A member questioned what work was being done with the districts to 
implement the waste hierarchy, at the top of which was waste reduction and 
prevention. It was advised that the new Waste Partnership had now been 
created and there had been an agreement for an amount of money to be 
available for education on this issue.

5.11 There was a request for officers to look into the need for soil conservation at 
county farms and a further discussion offline regarding future plans to tackle 
congestion on  the B4215 in Newent, which a local member felt had not been 
sufficiently addressed in the revised Local Transport Plan.

5.12 Noting the recent gridlock issues the county faced with another closure of the 
M5, it was questioned what happened in those situations in regards of traffic 
management. It was advised that the highways team responded accordingly 
where possible and where they received prior warning, which was not always 
the case.

5.13 A member raised a concern of how unclear the A46 diversion route was 
currently, highlighting a number of residents had been in contact having 
become lost. There was a need in future for clearer diversions and better 
communication.

6. WORK PLAN 

Members considered the draft work plan that had been circulated and the following 
was discussed:

 The extraction of minerals and its environmental impacts would be added to 
the November meeting agenda.

 A request was made for an update on the progress made on the Biodiversity 
Task Group recommendations.

 There was a lengthy discussion about the positioning of the climate change 
item. Officers had requested for the item to be delayed from October to 
November due to capacity issues, but members felt strongly they did want to 
delay this important discussion. 

 It was accepted that moving the item to the November meeting would allow a 
more detailed report to be produced, time for new officers to settle into their 
roles and start delivering against the strategy, and adequate Committee time 
for a detailed discussion.

 A Member requested an update on the cycling strategy group, which officers 
advised was in the process of being reconstituted and would update 
councillors on the progress as soon as possible.

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 13:30.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: Highway Repair Methods

Meeting Date: 9th September 2021

Chairman: Councillor Dominic Morris

Presenting Officer: Kathryn Haworth

Purpose of Report: To outline how highways are maintained and repaired

Planned Dates

Background 
documents:

Gloucestershire Structural Maintenance Manual
Gloucestershire Transport Asset Management Plan

Appendices

Recommendations To note the report

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



1 Introduction & Background

1.1 The purpose of this paper is to outline how highways are maintained and 
repaired.  Under the Highways Act 1980 the County Council has a statutory 
duty to keep the road network safe and in doing so it has to demonstrate that 
what it has done is reasonably practicable.

1.2 The highway network is the most valuable asset that the County Council 
manages and maintains worth almost £7bn.  Carriageways make up the vast 
majority of the asset and value. It is key to achieving nearly all of the County 
Council’s business objectives, providing the means by which children get to 
school, the elderly receive home help, waste is transported and County Council 
staff deliver services all around the county. Gloucestershire County Council 
directly maintains 5,427 km of county roads.  Severe weather events over the 
past decade have shown up the fragility of the network, and raised awareness 
of the challenges in maintaining an ageing infrastructure.  Travel is an integral 
part of the local economy in relation to both tourism and supporting economic 
development. The highway network is equally important to users from other 
parts of the country. Unfortunately the importance is often only highlighted 
when parts of it become unavailable and travel becomes difficult.

1.3 The highway does not just include the carriageway, but all the features on it and 
beneath it, including street lighting, traffic signals, drainage systems, signs, 
bridges etc.  This paper focuses primarily on carriageways, footways and 
cycleways as the largest part of the overall highway asset.  There are a variety 
of methods used to maintain the highway from full scale resurfacing to pothole 
repairs and cyclical maintenance.  

2 Structural Maintenance

2.1 Structural maintenance of carriageways is the preferred solution for maintaining 
the highway over the long term as this restores the residual life of the road and 
provides the greatest resilience to the overall network.  Structural maintenance 
is usually carried out as resurfacing works, surface dressing works or more 
localised structural enhancements such as patching or haunching (restoring the 
edge of the road).

2.2 2021/22 is the final year of the £150m investment in carriageway structural 
maintenance.  So far, this money has enabled investment over and above that 
required to ‘standstill’ and has focussed on stabilising the deterioration and 
improving the condition of Gloucestershire’s A, B and C roads. The annual 
condition indicators produced for these roads have all shown improvement 
since 2018/19. It is anticipated that a further improvement will be seen on these 
figures when the completed 20/21 and 21/22 schemes are reflected in the 
overall network condition.

Page 22



2.3 The current calculation of the backlog of structural maintenance is £79.6m. 
£53.6m of that backlog is for unclassified roads. These have not benefitted from 
the recent investment programme, but have remained fairly stable over the past 
few years, with 13% of the unclassified 3000km network being classed as in 
need of maintenance. This figure is based on SCANNER surveys, which are 
carried out across the whole network; however nationally there are concerns 
that SCANNER is not necessarily the most suitable method of assessing the 
condition of the unclassified network. 

2.4 Whilst there has been an improvement in the classified road condition, many 
roads particularly the unclassified ones, are beyond zero residual life.  In order 
to standstill and maintain the roads in the overall condition they are in today, it 
is calculated that £16.8m should be spent on carriageway maintenance each 
year.  Over the last four years the additional funding has allowed spend above 
this level.  The capital grant funding from Department for Transport (DfT) is 
inadequate to keep up with standstill and therefore without top up funding from 
Council or other sources the amount the Council spends on reactive routine 
maintenance (such as pothole repairs) remains under pressure and the network 
deteriorates.

2.5 Alongside the structural maintenance programme, there will always also be a 
need to monitor, maintain and make localised repairs to the parts of the network 
which are not due for resurfacing or similar.  This is generally done through 
inspections to identify issues which need to be made safe on the network, 
through local area programmes of small scale maintenance and through 
cyclical maintenance programmes such as grass cutting, gully emptying etc.

3 Inspections 

3.1 Safety inspections and repair timescales are covered in Gloucestershire’s 
Safety Inspection Manual.  The network is inspected on a scheduled 
programme carried out by City and Guilds qualified Highway Safety Inspectors.  

Page 23



Inspections use a slow moving vehicle with two personnel - one driving, the 
other inspecting.

3.2 The inspection covers all areas within the highway boundary along that route. In 
urban areas, particularly when inspecting footways, it may be difficult to ensure 
that the inspection is carried out correctly by vehicle and it is necessary to carry 
out these inspections on foot. Walked inspections will be the normal approach 
for town centres. The inspectors will travel noting areas of concern that warrant 
further investigation and any defects identified are risk assessed in line with the 
Highways Safety Inspection Manual and then scheduled for repair within 2 
hours; the next working day or 28 days depending on the severity.  It should be 
noted that safety inspectors have discretion to upgrade a response timescale in 
response to particular local circumstances.

3.3 Reactive inspections are also carried out when potholes or defects are reported 
by the public.  These enquiries are inspected and any defects found are 
allocated for repair in line with the Highways Safety Inspection Manual.

3.4 Inspections cover not only potholes but also all carriageway markings; road 
traffic signs; fences; barriers; street lighting; ironwork; vegetation and trees. 
Trees within falling distance of the highway are termed ‘highway trees’ although 
many will be in private ownership. Any defect or feature likely to cause an 
obvious danger by encroachment, visibility obstruction, damage, ill health or trip 
hazard is recorded and the appropriate action taken. GCC carries out additional 
tree inspections with qualified arboriculturalists in line with GCC’s Tree 
Inspection Policy.

3.5 The existing manual is currently being updated to align it with the Code of 
Practice; Well Managed Highway Infrastructure.  This code highlights the need 
for a risk based approach to all highways policies, and encourages consistency 
with neighbouring authorities to ensure that users of the network reasonable 
expectations of consistency are taken into account.  Gloucestershire’s Policy 
already follows a risk based approach so revisions are minor – these include 
reviewing the inspection hierarchy to align it with neighbouring authorities in the 
South West and ensuring consistency of inspection frequencies across county 
boundaries.  These revisions have been discussed with the Council’s insurers 
and legal team to ensure that the key stakeholders are satisfied.

3.6 The Council’s approach and policy has been tested in the courts over a number 
of years.  The Manual has been noted by the judiciary as a process which is 
robust and identifies good practice from throughout the industry.   Since 2019 
the contractual responsibility for inspections, repairs and consequent third party 
claims lies with the Term Maintenance Contractor.  The Council and Term 
Maintenance Contractor continue to operate with an average repudiation rate of 
95% and this rate is well above the industry standard where 80% is often seen 
as good.  This gives reassurance that the processes, criteria and response 
times outlined in the existing Manual are robust and reasonable and safeguard 
the travelling public as well as the County’s liability.

Page 24



4 Repairs

4.1 The diagram above summarises how a defect is formed.  Over the past winter 
(2020/21), Gloucestershire undertook 99 salt runs which indicates the number 
of nights which were forecasted to have sub zero road temperatures with 
moisture present.  The average number of winter runs over the past 10 years 
has increased from 52 to 69 and this figure is expected to increase further.  
This shows the impact of climate change and wetter winter weather on our 
network and how the network will continue to be impacted. In a road with some 
residual life a pothole repair could be expected to last 2+ years.  However, as 
highlighted earlier in the report, on roads with little residual life a pothole repair 
in a crazed or fractured surface will last far less time.  This is why the long term 
solution to road condition is resurfacing, putting structural integrity back into the 
road.  

4.2 Once a defect has been identified by the Safety Inspector, an electronic ‘job’ is 
raised and sent to the works team.  There are 
four works teams across the county based from 
local depots at Cannop; Cirencester; 
Stroudwater and Bamfurlong.  Dedicated 
schedulers identify the jobs to be repaired by 
each gang and these are loaded on to their 
tablets so they have a clear workload for that 
day.  The gang takes a before photo, a Traffic 
Management photo and an after photo.  These 
photos are used as evidence as well as part of 
the audit process.

4.3 Repair processes strive for a first-time-fix approach which is set out as follows:

 Use of hot materials for all pothole repairs;
 Saw cutting, tack coating and mechanical compaction for all pothole repairs 

on classified roads as a minimum;
 80% of safety defect work done on a planned and programmed approach;
 90% of Next Working Day repairs to be permanently repaired (not made 

safe);

Page 25



 Co-ordination of safety defect repair works using Confirm and CPA in a 
geographically based approach to ensure gang efficiency and reduce the 
amount of drive time between defect repairs;

 When resources allow, other non-safety defects to be proactively picked up 
by the repair gangs and repaired whilst carrying out safety defect repairs;

 A positive and proactive approach with the media through the Client’s 
website to highlight the high quality and quantity of pothole repairs and to 
highlight the frequency of a coordinated approach being adopted;

 An asset management driven approach to co-ordination of patching works 
where individual pothole repairs are considered inefficient and/or not cost 
effective;

4.4 For defect repairs, whenever resources allow, a locality approach is taken to 
apply a co-ordinated approach to encompass other local maintenance activities 
within the vicinity such as gully cleaning, grip cutting, sign replacement/de-
cluttering/cleaning, minor works, etc. taking place in the same location at the 
same time to achieve the greatest presence and impact on customer 
satisfaction.

4.5 GCC carry out a monthly audit programme covering Safety Defects in addition 
to joint audits undertaken by GCC and Ringway.   Weekly defect audits are also 
carried out with a random selection of 30 defects per area reviewed at the 
weekly works meetings using before and after photos.  This is in addition to 
Ringway Supervisor and Management audits that are undertaken.

4.6 Since last winter, Gloucestershire has experienced high volumes of safety 
defects which have persisted much longer than the usual post-Winter spike.  
Our changing climate is impacting on operations as the increased defect 
numbers are a reflection of our wetter and extended cold winter, again this was 
highlighted with snow in April this year, and during the last winter we 
experienced flooding incidents on several occasions, along with an extended 
period of freeze/thaw cycle from January to March.  Unfortunately due to the 
high volume of defects experienced since February/March, the focus has been 
driven by ensuring that identified defects are fixed in time, rather than a locality 
approach, in order to keep the overall network safe for the travelling public.
 

4.7 In an ideal world there would be few enough repairs and sufficient enough 
resource to be able to allow a repair crew to fix everything within a street, 
whether it met the intervention criteria or not.  However, the first priority has to 
be to the safety of the travelling public across the whole county.  In the first 
instance it is important to ensure that the most hazardous defects have been 
repaired, before moving on to those which are less critical.  This is the 
foundation of a risk based approach.  The inspection teams are separated from 
the repair teams to enable this to happen.  The inspection teams can then 
concentrate on ensuring that defects are identified and the works team 
concentrate on planning and programming repairs.

4.8 The graph below shows the volume of defects since April 2019.  It can be seen 
that there is a seasonal variation but historically the average number of defects 
per month has been approximately 2,500, so it is clear to see that there is a 
significant increase in defect numbers and consequently the requirement to 

Page 26



deploy additional resources on the network.  Average gang numbers have 
normally been in the region of 26 gangs but this can fluctuate depending on 
training, leave and defect levels.  During this period 40-45 gangs have been 
deployed to respond.

Ap
r-

...
M

ay
-..

.
Ju

n-
...

Ju
l-.

..
Au

g-
...

Se
p-

...
O

ct
-..

.
N

ov
-..

.
De

c-
...

Ja
n-

...
Fe

b-
...

M
ar

-..
.

Ap
r-

...
M

ay
-..

.
Ju

n-
...

Ju
l-.

..
Au

g-
...

Se
p-

...
O

ct
-..

.
N

ov
-..

.
De

c-
...

Ja
n-

...
Fe

b-
...

M
ar

-..
.

Ap
r-

...
M

ay
-..

.
Ju

n-
...

Ju
l-.

..

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

5500
2 hrs
Next Working Day
28 Days

Safety Defects

4.9 A number of actions have been introduced to continue repairing on time and get 
ahead of the numbers.  These include:
- increasing gang numbers to deal with high volumes;
- use of Spray Injection Patcher (sometimes referred to as a Jet Patcher) to 

enable there to be a proactive approach to annual inspection routes with the 
aim of reducing the gang resource needed over the coming months.  This 
will enable more efficient programming of defect repairs and better 
productivity of gangs.  

- a patching gang to complete larger defects and undertake larger patches to 
reduce return visits.  This gang has been splitting it’s time across the county 
depending on the location of defects identified;

- agreeing that where resurfacing or patching works are already planned then 
defects are repaired without a saw cut edge instead of the preferred method 
of defect repair;

- area based patching works – the teams have identified poor carriageway 
condition which will be picked up with machine laid patching which is 
programmed from their minor works budget;

- resurfacing works continue to do a great job of improving the overall network 
condition.

5 Other Works

5.1 Delivery of works other than safety defects can be achieved through a number 
of different work streams and these are described below:

- Community Maintenance Gangs – four gangs run across the county from 
April to November with work prioritised by the local area teams.  The type of 

Page 27



work that they can carry out would include a range of basic highway 
maintenance activities, such as cleaning signs and bollards, straightening 
posts and verge markers, clearing drainage gullies and grips, dealing with 
overhanging vegetation, tidying up footways etc. The local teams will collate 
work from councillors, parish and town councils, as well as identifying works 
from their visits around the area.  Requests should be passed through the 
Local Highway Manager or Highways Councillor email.

- Highways Local – each councillor has £30k to use on community priorities 
for the highway in 2021/22.  The focus is on keeping our local highways in 
good condition. Examples of projects that could be supported would be 
small carriageway or footway patching schemes; minor works such as 
drainage repairs, dropped kerbs or vegetation management; winter and 
environmental top up to help communities help themselves such as hand 
salt spreaders, grit bins, tree planting or additional community maintenance 
gangs; or contributions towards planned capital programme schemes. 
Councillors should liaise with their Local Highway Manager to agree details.

- Minor Works – working with the Local Highways Managers to identify areas 
of work that requires capital investment.  This work is prepared by 
September the year before so that design and planning can be undertaken.  
There is also a small element of reactive minor works which is available to 
deal with the emergency situations which occur during the year.

5.2 Appendix 1 contains a summary of where to find more information, or who to 
contact for different highway issues.

6 Works Co-ordination 

6.1 Within the highways team concerted efforts are made to maximise the use of 
traffic management on the network to achieve as much as possible in an area 
whilst say, a road closure, is in place.  There is also significant work to ensure 
where possible that sequencing of works is carried out in the most sensible 
way.

6.2 The County Council’s Street Works Team work closely with the Utility 
Companies and the Area Teams to ensure work plans are shared.  Due to the 
type of works undertaken it is unusual to be able to co-ordinate works under the 
same closures but good progress has been made to ensure that utility works 
are undertaken before Gloucestershire’s resurfacing works are carried out.

7 What Next

7.1 There are a number of areas for consideration in the future.  Technology will 
bring new opportunities to improve efficiency.  Last year GCC carried out a trial 
of Vaisala’s RoadAI system for safety inspections. Whilst it did not prove 
suitable to replace inspections at that time, there are definitely potential benefits 
for the use of the AI system to assess road condition on unclassified roads.  
Additional work is being funded with Vaisala to compare the results on over 
1/3rd of the unclassified network with the traditional assessment methods. This 
will be funded from existing budgets and this system will also provide the ability 
to collect condition information on the off-carriageway cycleway network.

7.2 We continue to drive efficiencies with our colleagues in Ringway through the 
use of technology and shared best practice in the industry.  This is achieved 

Page 28



through collaboration with our neighbouring authorities in the South West and 
wider as well as national groups and the wider Ringway team.

7.3 As part of our medium and long term plans, an action for ‘Identifying ways to 
reduce our carbon emissions in our highways investment’ was identified.  
Highway operations are often not traditionally considered an environmentally 
focused area but there is significant work being progressed in this area. At a 
strategic level it is about getting more people to use active travel options, and to 
help encourage them to do this the highway needs to be in a good condition so 
that it does not act as a barrier to them.  It also has the benefit that the less 
traffic which uses the network, the slower the deterioration will be.

7.4 Some of the things which are already in place, or which have been trialled are 
reducing waste and increasing recycling, trials of different surfacing materials, 
use and conversion to electric hand tools (rather than diesel), electric vehicles 
and wider.  A summary can be found in Appendix 2.

  

Page 29



Appendix 1 - Members Information

This section provides a summary/reminder of where to go for different issues:

 Highways queries – the Local Highways Manager is the first point of contact for 
members for highway related issues.  We are committed to meeting the County 
Councillors on at least a quarterly basis but in many cases the local teams meet 
more regularly than this where there is a desire to do so.  Councillors have been 
invited to open days at depots at the start of September and this is something we 
hope to continue in the future.

 Report it - https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/your-highways-
report-it/ please use the website to report individual safety concerns such as 
potholes or lighting columns out, this way it gets recorded directly into the 
systems, then tracked and sent to the correct department for action.  Emergency 
issues should be reported via the phone on our 08000 514 514.

 Highways Councillor email - highwayscouncillors@gloucestershire.gov.uk – 
please use this email address to send in your enquires from Parish and Town 
Councils or Members of the public.  This way your email is logged and sent to 
the most appropriate person(s)/department, you will also be given a log number 
to track your enquiry.  Members of the public should be directed to 
highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk and 08000 514 514, this way we capture all 
enquires and can monitor them as well as ensuring they are sent to the most 
appropriate officer to respond.

 TROs – for all enquiries on TRO’s please go to the TRO Team - 
TROenquiries@gloucestershire.gov.uk

 Roadworks - https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/roadworks/ us 
this map to look at the planned works across the county, not just highways works 
but Utility Companies (water, gas, electric, telecommunications and fibre optic), 
other contractors and partner agencies.

 Road Maintenance - https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/road-
maintenance/ use the map to find out current works on the network and our road 
closures.  At the bottom of this page it also has a brief description of the works 
undertaken for grass cutting, gully empting, trees etc.

 Highway Policy and guidance documents - 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/plans-policies-procedures-
manuals/highways-policy-and-guidance-documents/ on this page it includes links 
to the Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP), Highway Safety Inspection 
Policy and our other policy documents which you may find useful.

 Capital Works – we have a large number of schemes within our Major Project 
team and they will provide pertinent updates to councillors as appropriate.  
These are delivered by our in-house team with Consultants and Contractors 
providing specialist support.  Details of this work is available on our website - 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/  Again if you 
have any questions concerning this work that isn’t answered on the website, then 
please contact the LHM in the first instance.

Page 30

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/your-highways-report-it/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/your-highways-report-it/
mailto:highwayscouncillors@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:TROenquiries@gloucestershire.gov.uk
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/roadworks/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/road-maintenance/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/roads/road-maintenance/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/plans-policies-procedures-manuals/highways-policy-and-guidance-documents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/plans-policies-procedures-manuals/highways-policy-and-guidance-documents/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/


Appendix 2 – Carbon & Environmental Steps

A number of initiatives are being undertaken across the partner organisations (GCC, 
Ringway, Atkins, Tarmac, Skanska et al) to reduce the impact on the environment.

There has been an increased focus on waste disposal from highways operations by 
Ringway and using supply chain and the adjacent contract in Worcestershire to 
recycle highways arisings; as a result we now recycle or reuse 99% of waste 
generated through operations in the county.  There is a current focus on the area of 
plastic reduction and recycling and Ringway have introduced a plastic graveyard in 
each of our depots for a local supplier to collect and recycle.  Suppliers have been 
reviewed as well as packaging of deferred set bituminous material to ensure recycling 
opportunities are maximised.  Most recently, dedicated PPE (Personal Protective 
Equipment) recycling stations have been introduced in each depot.  PPE is then 
turned into recycled pellets and used for Solid Recovered Fuel.

The importance of ensuring recycled products have a market is also recognised and 
therefore we are working with the supply chain to ensure the purchase of recycled 
products or that products have an element of recycled content. Ringway purchase 
100% recycled Type 1 stone from our neighbours in Worcestershire and purchase 
recycled bollards through the supply chain.  

Within surfacing operations 100% of acceptable material which is removed from the 
road before the new surface is laid is recycled.  (There is a small proportion, around 
10%, which is considered hazardous and has to be dealt with using different 
methods.)  Tarmac continues to seek advances in environmental benefits throughout 
material manufacturing and laying and processes. The initiatives currently include 
introducing software to track vehicle deliveries better identifying where they are on 
route allowing real time decisions to be made about running engines on idle for 
prolonged periods.  In addition the use of warm mix asphalt is increasing and Tarmac 
are promoting its use wherever a more energy efficient manufacturing process can be 
benefitted from.  Disposing of old/used tyres is a major problem in the UK.  Another 
technique processes old tyres into a suitable crumb rubber as an additive in the 
manufacturing process extending the binder. Although not particularly new technology 
it has now advanced to a stage where we are attempting to promote trials and 
eventually wider use.  Historic trials of this in Gloucestershire had limited success but 
as technology moves forward it is hoped that this might be another technique for the 
future.

There is also a heavy focus on a switch to electric kit such as hedge cutters, strimmers 
and brush cutters.  An electric telehandler has also been trialled in the Stroudwater 
Depot and, as part of the design process with the supplier, a number of areas where 
the machine could be improved have been identified.  Electric vans have been 
ordered for the Inspection Teams and all Ringway company car drivers now have the 
option of an electric vehicle.  As a result of this we are currently investing in electric 
charging points in the depots to further encourage the introduction of electric vehicles.

Around the important winter gritting service we have carried out an optimisation 
process to reduce the number of lorries required from 33 to 29.  This has maximised 
the efficiency of the routes and optimised the number of miles being driven when 
gritting the network, with no change in the length of network actually gritted.  There is 
also a commitment to using Euro VI compliant vehicles across the operational fleet.

Page 31



The Public Rights of Way (PROW) team have also been focusing on the use of 
recycled materials and have used a ‘Flexipave’ system on a 2.5mile multiuser trail in 
Stroud, this utilised over 27,000 used tyres that would have otherwise been sent to 
landfill.  Road planings are also regularly used in PROW and are 100% reused.  
PROW has also used recycled plastic products in footbridge construction especially 
where elements are prone to rotting.  Another change is that PROW have started to 
refurbish signs rather than replace the sign completely, leading to less waste and a 
longer life cycle for the sign.

Our highways depots and Shire Hall are all connected by video conference facilities 
aiming to reduce the amount of travel to meetings; this has now been reinforced 
further by the introduction of more home working due to Covid19.  Meetings that were 
traditionally travelled to by car are now carried out via WebEx, MS Teams or other 
forms of online video conferencing which has reduced our travel and carbon footprint 
associated with travel.  It is highly likely that this reduction in travel will be able to be 
sustained in the post-covid operations as a result.

Highways land can contribute and improve our local biodiversity providing refuges for 
some species and links to wider ecological networks in the landscape.  We are trialling 
a number of ways to improve the landscape areas within the highways asset. For 
example, a trial of yellow rattle is being carried out (which suppresses the growth of 
grasses), a trial of manual cutting and collecting the grass cut in Andoversford and 
trials of different planting in central reservations to reduce the amount of grass cutting 
and improve the biodiversity.  Ringway are also working with Plant Life, who are a 
Wild Flower Conservation Charity to assist with planting options as part of their Road 
Verge Campaign. 

We have also commissioned Atkins to produce an Ultra-Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) 
Strategy to provide a policy position for the County to progress actions to enable 
increases in ULEV uptake.  The current phase of the project is focused on the 
implementation in residential streets, but the planned actions are wider ranging. 
The number and percentage uptake of ULEV registrations in Gloucestershire, user 
feedback and air quality data will be monitored.

Next steps and The Future

As might be expected, not all trials are successful but the Gloucestershire Highways 
collaboration is taking the view that it is important to carry out trials, learn what needs 
to be improved and what will/won’t work as we move forward.  It is also helpful to 
engage with the suppliers and commercial markets to help develop solutions for the 
future.  Whilst a number of exciting steps forward have been taken, there is more 
planned for the future and some of the key areas are highlighted below:

 Progress detailed mapping of highway verges in order to optimise grass cutting 
and better understand how we can contribute to biodiversity.

 Trialling a topsoil strip back on central reservations to reduce grass cutting 
frequency and encourage biodiversity.

 Taking a closer look at gully waste dewatering to find ways to manage locally and 
reduce our travel footprint.

 Further roll out of electric fleet vehicles across the business.
 Using the investment opportunities for highways depots to look at green energy. 

power and footprint.
 Further develop work with other local authorities on how we measure the baseline 

and our impacts.

Page 32



Environment Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: MOTION 876 – CALL TO ADOPT 20MPH 
MAXIMUM SPEEDS IN AREAS WHERE 
VULNERABLE ROAD USERS AND VEHICLES 
MIX
To receive a report on the Motion presented to Council in 
June 2021

Meeting Date: 9th September 2021

Chair: Cllr Dom Morris

Presenting Officer: Liz Kirkham

Purpose of Report: To consider the issues surrounding the widespread 
introduction of 20mph maximum speeds as raised in the 
Motion 876 to Council In June 2021

Planned Dates

Background 
documents:

 The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 2020 - 
2041

 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans
 Setting Local Speed Limits
 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2160/sch

ool_safety_zone_guidance_version2-65676.pdf 
 Gear Change - cycling and walking plan for England 
 Community Approaches to Road Safety

Appendices None

Recommendations To support the suggested actions

Page 33

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/transport-strategy-for-gloucestershire-to-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/transport-strategy-for-gloucestershire-to-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/local-cycling-and-walking-infrastructure-plans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/setting-local-speed-limits/setting-local-speed-limits
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2160/school_safety_zone_guidance_version2-65676.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2160/school_safety_zone_guidance_version2-65676.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
http://www.grcc.org.uk/downloads/community-assets-and-services/2017.08-grcc-cars-toolkit-2017.pdf


         

                                                                                                                                      

1. Background

1.1. At County Council in June 2021, the following motion was recorded.  

Motion 876 - Call to adopt 20mph maximum speeds in areas where 
vulnerable road users and vehicles mix

Proposed by Cllr Roger Whyborn
Seconded by Cllr Gill Moseley

This Council believes that 20 is plenty where people are.   
 
This Council agrees with and supports the UK Government’s recent 
endorsement of The Stockholm Declaration, which stipulates in Resolution 11 
that a council should “mandate a maximum road travel speed of [20mph] in 
areas where vulnerable road users and vehicles mix…except where strong 
evidence exists that higher speeds are safe.” 
  
Council resolves to formally adopt Resolution 11. In practice this means that 
the default speed limit on Gloucestershire’s urban and rural residential streets 
will be 20mph, except on main roads where speed limits, if higher, must be 
both safe and appropriate.
 
As the Local Highways Authority, this Council calls on Cabinet to consult the 
county’s District Councils, Parish Councils and communities to identify all the 
roads which should adopt a 20mph speed limit no later than 30 April 2025 and 
to make significant progress towards realising these changes in tandem - 
establishing 20mph limits in identified places quickly if communities agree.
 
Council commits to providing the necessary funding, to achieve the goal of 
making our residents safe across Gloucestershire.

1.2. It was decided at Council to send the matter to the Environment Scrutiny 
Committee, for consideration

Page 34



2. Background and Policy Framework 

2.1.Background

The frequency of requests from Parishes and communities for the 
introduction of 20mph limits/zones has increased over recent years, and this 
has coincided with covid-19 lockdown and the evidence of increased 
numbers in active travel in our communities.  Often, requests for 20mph 
limits/zones are driven by a desire in communities to provide for vulnerable 
highway users who want to feel safe to travel by foot and by bike.
Since start of the pandemic public awareness of the health benefits of active 
travel has grown and the government has encouraged the delivery of local 
walking and cycling schemes through the DfT’s Emergency Active Travel 
Fund.
School Safety Zones have been one way of introducing advisory 20mph 
limits, but a lack of support from Gloucestershire Constabulary has meant 
that very few mandatory 20mph limits have been established – by requiring 
sites to be self-enforcing either existing speeds must be low or costly traffic 
calming must be installed to reduce speeds so that enforcement is not 
necessary.  
This has led to a level of frustration amongst communities and their elected 
members.

The following paragraphs set out information about 20mph limits and zones, 
and also the national and local policies and guidance supporting their 
introduction. The missing element is a clear policy on where 20mph limits can 
be introduced, with guidance for communities as to what measures, of which 
speed limits are only one, can be introduced to change the nature of their 
streets into places where pedestrians and cyclists can feel safe and 
empowered to be more active.

2.2.20mph Speed Limits

Speed limits in built up and residential areas are currently set at 30mph as a 
default. The presence of street lights is sufficient to establish this as the 
speed limit. Other speed limits, higher or lower, in street-lit areas, require 
Traffic Regulation Orders, as well as repeater signs, as do speed limits other 
than 60mph in areas without street lighting.

Since the early 1990s there have been requests to lower speed limits below 
this 30mph default. Changes in legislation and guidance have made it easier 
to introduce 20mph limits or 20mph zones – the latter requiring traffic 
calming. 

Currently the introduction of a 20mph speed limit (which does not need traffic 
calming) requires mean speeds to already be below 24mph to ensure that 
they are self-enforcing and reduce the reliance on the Police force. This is 
national guidance as explained below.

Advisory limits can be introduced without Traffic Regulation Orders, and 
these have been used in many locations in Gloucestershire as part of School 
Safety Zones. These limits are encouraged by flashing wigwag lights and 
other signage “20 is plenty” or similar. They are not legally enforceable.

Page 35



2.3.  National Guidance – “Setting Local Speed Limits”

“Setting Local Speed Limits” is a document first produced by the Department 
for Transport in 2006, and revised in 2013. It actively promotes the setting of 
lower speed limits: “Traffic authorities are asked to keep their speed limits 
under review with changing circumstances, and to consider the introduction 
of more 20 mph limits and zones, over time, in urban areas and built-up 
village streets that are primarily residential, to ensure greater safety for 
pedestrians and cyclists”, 
The County Council uses this guidance document when considering 
applications for changes in speed limits.

In recent years some authorities have chosen to interpret this more loosely, 
enabling them to make greater use of 20mph speed limits but also raising 
questions about the levels of enforcement.

2.4.  Local policies – Corporate Strategy

In the Corporate Strategy we have stated that we want “Healthy, resilient and 
engaged communities that work together to improve the places they live and 
work” and that we will continue to invest in improving the county’s roads by 
delivering major active travel schemes to facilitate the use of cycling when 
accessing key services and employment opportunities.

Therefore, this report seeks to support this by creating a clear vision of how 
we might achieve this goal.

2.5.Local Policies – Local Transport Plan

Policy LTP PD 0.5 Community Health and Wellbeing GCC will work with 
partners to improve community health, wellbeing and safety by encouraging 
greater numbers of people from all social and economic groups and including 
those with disabilities, to use safe and affordable multi-modal travel options 
(e.g. by walking, cycling or by public transport) for short distance trips; 
helping children and adults, including families and those economically and 
physically disadvantaged to enjoy more independent, physically active 
lifestyles; improving air quality; and connecting people to services, 
employment, housing, education, health services, social and leisure 
amenities to allow equality of opportunity to health, social and economic 
wellbeing and remove barriers that can create social isolation. 
This includes the following policy proposals:

 Investigate community based vehicle restriction zones that will benefit 
communities and protect vulnerable highway users from a safety and 
health perspective, during peak congestion periods.

 Introduce speed limits in accordance with the current national guidelines 
and prioritise them based on available evidence, including 20mph zones.

 And support communities to deliver local speed campaigns through the 
Safer Community Teams.

2.6.  Local Policies – Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans
Gloucestershire wants to get more people walking and cycling. Giving all 
people more choices in how they travel will reduce transport emissions, 
improve health and ensure more sustainable growth. These plans aim to 

Page 36



increase the number of trips made on foot or by cycle through infrastructure 
improvements that improve conditions for cycling and walking for all. The 
measures proposed take into account the need to create inclusive corridors 
that serve the wider population and can help to encourage those returning to 
cycling as well as new and younger cyclists.

2.7.Community Approaches to Road Safety (CARS)
This guide was first produced in 2012 by the former Road Safety Partnership, 
and was revised in 2016. It provides a range of ways in which communities 
can become involved in influencing traffic speeds. The guide does not refer 
specifically to 20mph zones or limits. It is recommended that this document is 
reviewed by officers in conjunction with the police.

3. Scope 
3.1.Speed limit policy

Speed limits are one tool in the toolbox of road safety policy, but success in 
this area will require a change in emphasis to active travel and the 
relationship to speed. We rely heavily on input from the police when 
considering potential reductions in speed. If the police don’t support a limit, it 
won’t be introduced. This becomes a limiting factor when considering the 
wider spread introduction of lower speeds. 
 

3.2.Urban/Rural split
The guidance from the Department for Transport refers to “urban areas and 
built-up village streets that are primarily residential”. The list of current and 
proposed locations shown below includes examples of both of these. The 
impact of change will be bigger in urban areas with higher density of 
population. In villages it may be more important to consider the aesthetic of 
any new scheme, as a proliferation of signs and traffic calming measures 
might lead to more objections. 
Other physical geography (steep hills etc) will also impact on the potential for 
increasing modal shift and this will reduce the worth or benefits of introducing 
reduced limits.
In older residential areas the road layout tends to be dictated by historic 
building lines rather than modern highways design codes. Terraced streets 
built to a grid pattern tend to have limited visibility at junctions and narrow or 
non-existent footways forcing people to drive more slowly. However growth in 
car ownership and parking on-street may leave people with no option but to 
walk on a carriageway with a 30mph limit. Ever since the 1960’s 
governments have encouraged councils to reduce the volume and speed of 
traffic in such locations, often as part of road safety and urban regeneration 
schemes.

3.3.Technology in cars
There have traditionally been objections to lower speed limits because of the 
difficulties of driving at 20mph, and also the potential impact on the 
environment as cars drive less efficiently at lower speeds, however this is 
less problematic with more modern vehicles. It is becoming the norm for 
Intelligent Speed Assistance to be built in to new cars. 

Page 37



3.4.Current Examples
Over the past few years we have introduced a number of 20mph zones and 
20mph limits

Existing 20mph zones

Lydney
Stow on the Wold
Rodborough/Minchinhampton

Painswick
Whiteshill/Ruscombe
Barnwood/Elmbridge

Case Study 1 20mph zone – Stow on the Wold
Stow on the Wold 20 mph zone was implemented in 2018, following consultation. 
The scheme was funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) as part of 
the “Safe & Social Driving in Gloucestershire” initiative. Stow Town Council bid 
for funding and were successful. A feasibility study was completed which 
included speed data analysis, a review of the environment within the town and 
taking in to account existing traffic calming features. 

The 20mph zone is on generally urban and/ or residential in nature roads with 
considerable pedestrian footfall as there are schools, a number of recreational 
amenities in the area and a large number of shops.  A 20mph speed limit helps to 
improve safety by creating a safer environment for cyclists and pedestrians.  

Page 38



20mph limits have been introduced at the following locations;

Cinderford
Coleford
Redmarley D’Abitot
Tidenham

Innsworth/
Churchdown
Tewkesbury

Blockley
Cirencester
Little Rissington/
Bourton on the Water
Longborough
Moreton in Marsh
Southrop
Tetbury

Gloucester City Centre
Linden/Podsmead
St Lawrence Road, Gloucester
Tredworth/Barton
Southgate Street, Gloucester

Bisley
Chalford
Eastington
Kingswood
Minchinhampton 
Nailsworth
Pitchcombe
The Butts, Rodborough
Sheepscombe
Stone
Stonehouse
Stroud Town Centre
Summer Street, Stroud
Matthews Way, Stroud
Wraggs Castle Lane, Stroud
Mason Road, Stroud
Castle Street, Stroud
Thrupp
Upton St Leonards
Wotton Under Edge

Malvern Road, 
Priors Estate, Cheltenham
St Luke’s

Case Study 2: 20mph limit - Longborough
As part of a one off two year £100k TRO budget, a 20 speed limit was introduced in 
the Cotswold village of Longborough in 2017. In this community there was a desire 
to encourage pedestrian movement, particularly around the school and other local 
facilities. Like many rural villages there are not extensive footpaths, so pedestrians 
are walking in the carriageway..

Page 39



Current requests for 20mph limits / zones
The following is the current list of requests, some of which are already in this year’s 
programme for delivery (marked with *)

St.Briavels

Malleson Road, Gotherington*

Matson

Charlton Kings
Hatherley*
Chalford

Nailsworth*
Minchinhampton
Slimbridge
Upper Rissington

Fairford
Mickleton

• Hatherley - Engagement has taken place with Hatherley stakeholders, speed 
surveys completed and analysed, a scheme feasibility design produced, a Road 
Safety Audit has been completed and feedback considered by officers. The scheme, 
to increase walking to schools and cycling is being funded by a combination of 
income streams, including S106 and 20mph funding
• Nailsworth – data gathering and analysis is complete, site visits have been 
completed and a proposal setting out the extents of a 20 speed limit has been 
shared with the Town Council and local member for their feedback before 
consultation. This is being funded via Community Match.
• Malleson Road, Gotherington – This is a developer led scheme and is being 
funded by the developer as part of the planning and legal agreements for the site.

Page 40



4. Vision and Impacts 
4.1.Vision

The aspiration for the motion is to develop a vision for local, residential roads 
which aligns more closely with, and facilitates the implementation of, policies 
for road safety, active travel and economic recovery. This would be a change 
from the current arrangements and would need a transformational approach. 
This could be based on the following vision statements:

 no child killed or seriously injured on a residential street
 meeting the needs of those with the fewest choices
 making cycling and walking the first choice for local journeys
 developing 20 minute neighbourhoods
 supporting local businesses in a greener economic recovery

Work in this area is already being carried out in other parts of the country. 
Several London boroughs have developed practices along these lines, using 
20mph limits to: deliver comprehensive cycle networks with high quality routes 
designed to the latest standard (LTN 1-20); increase walking by reducing 
through traffic in residential areas; regenerate high streets and support local 
businesses through the Covid recovery by creating outdoor space for cafes, 
restaurants and events. Lower design speeds may enable a less engineered 
(and costly) solution, use less land for visibility splays, allow for tighter bends 
and improve the convenience and safety of people walking and cycling. 

The Welsh Government has decided to address this at a national level – 
changing the default speed limit to 20mph on all roads in residential areas. 
The DfT has indicated that in England they will not be imposing a blanket 
change, but leaving it up to local highway authorities to set their own policies.

4.2.Safety
One of the potential vision statements suggested above is “no child killed or 
seriously injured on a residential road”. Unfortunately, over the period 2016-
2020 there are have been 44 children killed or seriously injured on urban and 
residential roads.37 of these instances involved child pedestrians or cyclists, 
but only 2 of them occurred on roads with 20mph limits.

Detail of Child collision/casualties on urban/residential roads 2016/2020

Page 41



The overwhelming majority of the collisions indicated above occurred on 
30mph residential roads. It is already understood that the higher the speed, 
the longer it takes to stop the vehicle and the greater the harm on impact. At 
the point a 20mph car would have stopped, a 30mph car would still be doing 
24mph. The risk of being killed is almost 5 times higher in collisions between 
a car and a pedestrian at 31mph compared to the same type of collisions at 
18.6mph. In 2018 the OECD reported that research consistently shows that 
lower speeds reduce deaths and injuries, not least because there is more 
time to react. 

Research by the Transport Research Laboratory has shown that for urban 
roads with low average speeds there is an average 6% reduction in collisions 
with each 1mph reduction in average speed. This latter point is often 
overlooked, especially in the absence of three years or more of post-
implementation casualty data. It is therefore wrong to think that average 
speed reductions of even 1 to 2mph are trivial and have little or no value. 

It is also important to note that road traffic injury is also strongly associated 
with poverty. Child pedestrian deaths in deprived neighbourhoods are over 
four times those in affluent neighbourhoods. Reducing speeds through the 
application of area-wide 20mph speed limits would therefore help reduce 
health inequalities.

Similarly, whilst only 1 child pedestrian casualty was recorded in the 5 year 
period on roads with a speed limit of 40mph, it should be viewed that speed 
limits above 30mph are less conducive to active travel as people often feel at 
risk. Therefore, they are more likely to revert to the private car in order to 
complete short journeys.

4.3.Community
The Government guidance in Setting Local Speed Limits recognises the 
impacts that a reduction in speeds can have on a community.
Different road users perceive risks and appropriate speeds differently, and 
drivers and riders of motor vehicles often do not have the same perception of 
the hazards of speed as do people on foot, on bicycles or on horseback. Fear 
of traffic can affect peoples’ quality of life and the needs of vulnerable road 
users must be fully taken into account in order to further encourage these 
modes of travel and improve their safety. Speed management strategies 
should seek to protect local community life.[Setting Local Speed Limits]
We have a number of policies - for cycling, walking, air quality, carbon 
reduction – which would all be easier to deliver within the environment of 
lower speed limits. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought about unprecedented changes that 
affect all aspects of our lives and, transport, across all modes, has been 
particularly affected.  With the restrictions imposed, we have seen large 
reductions in motorised traffic on all parts of the road network, much reduced 
patronage of buses and trains, high levels of home working and, so far 
anecdotally, higher rates of walking and cycling, both for essential journeys 
and for daily exercise. 

Page 42



In order to continue to improve road safety we need to try and lock in the 
previous/current modal shift on travel and promote and encourage more 
sustainable modes of transport. 

4.4.Climate Change
Gloucestershire, like many other Council’s declared a climate emergency in 
May 2019 and set a target to reduce carbon emissions to net zero by 2045. 
This includes developing a roadmap to reduce emissions from transport, 
which is the largest source of greenhouse gas emissions.. Studies globally 
have shown that the reduction of vehicular traffic since the beginning of the 
pandemic has had a positive effect on air and noise pollution.  

However, we are also acutely aware of the link between air quality and health 
and the effect of noise (meaning unwanted or harmful sound) on our quality of 
life. Research already indicates the impact of poor air quality for those with 
pre-existing respiratory and heart conditions and the effect noise can, in the 
short-term affect mental health. 

With many more people experiencing and sharing their stories of depression, 
stress and anxiety during this difficult time, we as a Council need to do all that 
we can to encourage people to walk and cycle more within and outside of 
their communities. The reduction in vehicle speeds will help achieve this 
objective and allow for more inclusive places to live.

4.5.Environment 
As referred to in section 3.2, the visual impact of schemes needs to be 
considered. Gateway features would be a preferred way of indicating entry 
into a 20mph zone, with minimal vertical features (road humps, build outs etc) 
within the zone.
Another environmental consideration would be the impact on air quality. A 
previous concern about driving at 20mph is that cars are less efficient at this 
speed, using more fuel and creating more emissions; however as stated in 
section 3.3 this is less of a consideration for more modern vehicles and is 
less of an issue at all for electric vehicles. 
The major benefit for the environment of 20mph speed limits would be the 
increased number of journeys on cycles and on foot, the reduction in use of 
the car for shorter journeys and an opportunity for our struggling eco systems 
to continue to improve and build upon the significant changes that have 
happened as a direct result of the Covid-19 pandemic.

4.6.Engineering
Lower speeds can have an impact on engineering design standards, enabling 
the creation of more of a community feel. It allows for street scene to be less 
“engineered” and more accommodating to people. Higher speeds require 
greater segregation between cyclists and traffic, need more land and reduce 
opportunities for people to cross main roads and side roads easily and safely.

5. Stakeholders and Communication
There are different groups of stakeholders who will have different requirements 
and concerns regarding a proposed policy. There is an opportunity to explore the 
issues around the development of a policy for widespread 20mph limits. There 
are many groups who could be engaged with to explore the key issues and to 
gather evidence from other authorities who have already moved further along the 
road. 

Page 43



5.1.County Councillors
Many local councillors support the ambitions of their communities to have 
20mph limits but would feel more comfortable with clear policies so they can 
say whether or not those ambitions fit within policy parameters. Councillors 
also want schemes, once agreed, to be delivered quickly (not over many 
years).

5.2.  Communities
Feedback from experiences during lockdown, supported by previous 
research, indicates that there was a stronger sense of community when there 
was less traffic on the road. There were higher numbers of cyclists and 
pedestrians using the roads for exercise and essential journeys. It is 
important that the voices of communities are heard during consultations. 

5.3.Parish Councils
Parish Councils have good links with Local Highway Managers and with their 
County Councillors. They are often the drivers for change in their area, and 
individuals who have concerns about particular traffic issues will generally be 
directed to the Parish Council in the first instance, so that priorities can be 
agreed. Many Parish Councils have sufficient finance to pay for TROs to be 
produced, however there is not always clear understanding that new TROs 
need to meet policy criteria before funding is even considered. There can 
also be a desire to have a particular traffic measure which has been 
introduced elsewhere but without the understanding of the appropriateness or 
otherwise for their particular location and circumstances.

5.4.Drivers
Whilst there is an aspiration to make cycling and walking the first choice for 
shorter journeys, there is also recognition that journeys by car must still be 
accommodated. A clear hierarchy of roads, identifying those routes which 
would not be restricted because they are generally used for through journeys, 
would be beneficial. Communication with this group is important to share the 
vision so that drivers are aware of the reasons behind changes and any 
alternative travel options..

5.5.Police 
Gloucestershire Police are committed to improving safety on roads, but follow 
the traditional line (set out in the DfT’s Setting Local Speed Limits) that they 
will only support speed limits which are in line with existing mean speeds and 
are generally self-enforcing. This makes it difficult to achieve significant 
change without significantly greater resources for traffic calming.  However, 
Police forces from Wales have started to engage with ours and other local 
roads policing units to discuss how they plan to overcome many of the 
traditional issues encountered by undertaking enforcement within a 20mph 
speed limit or zone. This will require enforcement thresholds to be changed 
to not only address concerns of speed but engage and educate motorists on 
the benefits of driving slower within built-up environments.

5.6.Emergency Services
Because of the overall safety benefits low speeds often have the support of 
health authorities however for emergency services the priority is for access to 

Page 44



be maintained, and the ability to get to places quickly. Emergency Services 
are generally not supportive of physical traffic calming features as this can 
often create delays and in the case of Ambulances, discomfort for patients 
and/or passengers. This can be mitigated by early engagement to identify 
priority routes and preferred types of traffic calming (e.g. chicanes and 
cushions rather than humps).

5.7.Public Transport
Similar to the emergency service, access must be maintained and the ability 
to run to timetable is an important consideration. Early engagement is 
important as bus operators are not keen on vertical traffic calming features 
because of driver and passenger discomfort - yet without these many 20mph 
schemes will not have police support. As good public transport links will help 
to encourage modal shift and reduce the volume of traffic they complement 
20mph schemes.

5.8.Freight 
Organisations such as the Road Haulage Association and the Freight 
Transport Association want to ensure access for deliveries, within 
zones/areas, and for measures not to impact on through journeys

5.9.Neighbouring authorities
We are already being asked to work with our neighbouring authorities along 
the Welsh border, to establish clear practices in transitional areas. In 
settlements which straddle the border, such as Chepstow and Monmouth, all 
road users need to be clearly informed as to what to expect, and what limits 
apply on which roads.

5.10. Engagement
Welsh Government are currently in the process of conducting a 
consultation exercise with residents and visitors to Wales on their 
thoughts of implementing a 20mph default speed limit across Wales 
( https://gov.wales/proposal-reduce-speed-limit-20mph-residential-streets ). 
This process will end on 1st October and it is our intention to discuss the 
outcome of this with them to establish how we might consider 
engaging with the residents of Gloucestershire in the future - 

A previous survey conducted with 1000 people in Wales asked why they 
would support a 20mph speed limit. The results of which are shown below.

Page 45

https://gov.wales/proposal-reduce-speed-limit-20mph-residential-streets


Another question asked was ‘Can you tell me what difference 20mph speed 
limits might make to you personally – would they make you more or less likely 
to do the following? 

Those most likely to walk and cycle more with 20 mph speed limits were: 
 young people (at 46% of 16-24s) (walk)
 those with children under 16 in their household (at 41%) (walk)
 young people (at 16 – 34s) and those with children in their household at 
31% (cycle)

Carrying out a similar consultation in Gloucestershire would enable us to 
benchmark  against these results and to establish a level of support for 
widespread changes.

.

6. Delivery 
6.1.  Legal

Although the motion requests that 20mph becomes the default speed limit for 
residential roads, it will not be possible to have 20mph limits without Traffic 
Regulation Orders unless the Department for Transport makes a change to 
the existing legislation, and their current policy is not to do this. The County 
Council can set an aspirational 20mph default limit, but each limit will require 
a Traffic Regulation Order and the support of Gloucestershire constabulary.

 
There are several different types of Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) that 
Highway Authorities, such as GCC can implement when considering the 
provision of a new speed limit. These are:

 Emergency
 Temporary
 Permanent

The choice of TRO will depend on the reason(s) for implementing the order, 
for example roadworks on a busy main road may require the existing speed 
limit to be reduced to protect roadworkers, cyclists and pedestrians. This will 
generally be done using an Emergency or Temporary Order, the duration of 
which can vary depending on the nature of the works. Grant funded and 
capital schemes may require the Authority to implement Permanent orders.   

Page 46



It should be noted that Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders cannot be used 
for changes in speed limits.
There is a prescribed process for TROs, which includes informal and formal 
consultation with statutory consultees as well as the general public. 20mph 
limits and zones both require TROs and it is important that the Order receives 
the support from Gloucestershire Police, as an Order is only as good as the 
enforcement that it receives.

6.2.  Physical
There are two types of speed limits that Highway Authorities can use when 
reducing the speed limit down to 20mph. 20mph limits require terminal signs 
and repeater signs, whereas 20mph zones require gateway signing and other 
traffic calming measures. Traditionally, these traffic calming measures would 
be speed humps, tables or buildouts, which as mentioned in section 5 are not 
widely supported by emergency services or public transport. We can 
investigate alternative, less intrusive measures as part of the ongoing 
delivery of the 20mph programme. This would reduce the cost of delivering 
20mph zones.

6.3.Communication
We need a strong communication plan, concentrating on delivering the 
vision, to get buy in from all, including drivers who may feel marginalised by 
such policies if they see them only as restrictions.

6.4.Resources
The average cost for delivering the legal paperwork for a limit or a zonal 
restriction is approximately £10k, including consultation and statutory 
advertising. However there are costs associated with signing, which are 
greater for zonal restrictions. The availability of lamp columns or similar to 
attach signs to, will influence the cost. If roundels (marked on the 
carriageway) are used, these need to be maintained.

Depending on the level of physical measures required to be installed, the total 
scheme cost (including TRO costs) can range from £12k - £50k for a small 
scheme. It will be significantly more for larger areas and longer roads. 

All Traffic Regulation Orders have to be funded, as there is generally no 
allowance for them within the Council’s base budget. The staff resources for 
implementing speed limit TRO’s within highway schemes are funded by 
schemes once they are in the Highways Capital Programme. This reduces the 
ongoing revenue cost to the authority but also limits scope for feasibility work. 

This year Council added £100,000 to the budget and proposals for this are 
included in section 6.8. Otherwise TROs are funded by developer income 
(Section 106) or from Highways Local or Community Offer, sometimes with 
matched funding from parish or town councils. For further information on TRO 
funding streams please visit 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/traffic-regulation-orders-tro-and-
traffic-schemes/what-is-a-traffic-regulation-order-tro/

The consultative nature of statutory legal procedures means that not all TRO’s 
are implemented and significant time and cost is spent considering objections 

Page 47

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/traffic-regulation-orders-tro-and-traffic-schemes/what-is-a-traffic-regulation-order-tro/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/traffic-regulation-orders-tro-and-traffic-schemes/what-is-a-traffic-regulation-order-tro/


to schemes. Following staffing issues and delays to some schemes officers 
are reviewing productivity and have taken steps to secure additional 
temporary resources in the current financial year. 

6.5.Prioritisation
Due to the constraints of resources, it will be necessary to prioritise requests 
for 20mph zones. A prioritisation scheme will be developed which will rank 
requests against specific criteria. Safety and accident statistics will be key 
drivers, as will the measurable benefits to non motorised vehicle users. 
Routes to school, and other community facilities, (shops, church, pub, etc) 
will also be prioritised.

6.6.Monitoring
Although we hold lots of data about speeds prior to the introduction of new 
speed restrictions, we do not always collect data about speeds once new 
limits have been established. It would be beneficial to collect data on all of 
the schemes listed in section 3.4, and routinely collect before and after data 
on any new schemes.

6.7.Timescales
The identification and delivery of any TRO always takes longer than people 
expect. It can often take many months, or even years to decide that a TRO is 
required – particularly for speed management - – and consultation processes 
can identify new information and expose divergent views within a 
community.. Several other avenues will have been explored before it is 
agreed to go down the TRO route. The statutory framework around TRO 
delivery means that it again can take many months or years before a signed 
order can be made effective. 

6.8.  Proposal for additional budget allocation 
Council allocated an additional £100k to the budget for delivery of more 
20mph schemes, some of which is earmarked for existing schemes.
The proposal for use of the balance of that money is as follows:
 collect speed data for previously introduced schemes and monitor 

effectiveness of those and future schemes against objectives
 Development of a toolkit for determining solutions for different locations, 

using the following schemes as “test schemes”
o St Briavels
o Matson
o Charlton Kings
o Chalford
o Minchinhampton 
o Slimbridge

 Development of a prioritisation process

The test schemes will include a range of new delivery methods, including 
batching schemes into a single order. We will also identify the optimal 
(minimum) amount of traffic calming features which would be acceptable to 
support a 20mph zone approach.  

Page 48



7. Recommendations
The following recommendations are made:

 Officers to continue to deliver existing schemes as above
 Officers to develop a methodology for the prioritising of requests for 

20mph zones and limits
 Officers to work with Gloucestershire Police to review the Community 

Approaches to Road Safety document, and develop a 20mph policy 
supported by internal guidance. 

 Officers to collect data to confirm the effectiveness of recently introduced 
20mph schemes.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2021-22

9 September 2021
Report deadline: 31 August 2021

ADDITIONAL
20 October 2021

Joint session with Economic Growth Scrutiny
23 November 2021

Report deadline: 12 November 2021

Highway repair
methods and processes

Local Transport Plan Review
To receive an information presentation 

on the LTP followed by a Q&A

Climate change
To understand whether 

Gloucestershire is on track to meet its 
commitments and if the plans are 

ambitious enough to address the crisis 
at hand

Motion 876
20mph roads

Mineral extraction and its 
environmental impacts

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS

1 Infrastructure South – including the third river crossing 4 School street trials

2 Infrastructure Planning 5 E-scooters

3 Visit to Javelin Park
This will be arranged when possible due to Covid 
restrictions

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
Scrutiny Committee Report 

 
August 2021 

 
This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.   
 
1.0 Decisions 

 
1.1      Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due: 

 A435 Bishops Cleeve to Cheltenham Capacity Improvements – Contract Procurement 
Between 12 Jan 2021 and 31 Aug 2021 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s partnership agreement with Gloucester City Council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council in relation to the Joint 
Core Strategy Between 3 Aug 2020 and 30 Sep 2021 

 A417 Missing Link Development Consent Order (DCO) process Between 1 Sep 2021 and 
15 Sep 2021 

 Network Rail Bristol to Birmingham Corridor Strategic Study 22 Sept 2021 by Cabinet 

 Gloucestershire Statement of Common Ground - Strategic Planning 10 Nov 2021 by 
Cabinet 

 

1.2 Pending Items not yet published on the Forward Plan: 
 Blakeney West - Construction Procurement  

 Highways Major Projects Framework  

 Bus Service Improvement Plan  

 Transport DPS Update on Procurement and Contract Awards  

 Library Stock Procurement  

 Parking ICT Contracts  

 
2.0 Highways  
 
2.1 Highways Contracts 

 Term maintenance (Ringway) – Third year of contract underway.  Some focus now required 

on progressing collaborative working relationship.  Performance on cyclical maintenance 

and defect repair remains on target, but there continue to be high numbers of defects being 

found through inspections or reported by public – continue to experience 4000-5000 defects 

per month (incl. predicted August).  At this time of year it would normally be expected to see 

2000-2500 defects per month.  This is primarily recovery of the road network following the 

prolonged wet and sub-zero period between December and March which has caused 

accelerated deterioration of the fragile parts of the network which have not yet been 

addressed with long term solutions such as resurfacing.  Patching and jetpatcher resource 

have been mobilised to help address repairs but implementation has been delayed as a 

result of covid isolations impacting resource levels.  

 Professional services (Atkins) – Third year of contract underway.   

 Structural maintenance (Tarmac) – Last year of current contract.  Continued good 

performance and final year of £150m investment commenced.  Procurement of next 

surfacing contract to be considered over next 6 months in readiness for April 2022. 

 Street lighting (M Group) –Performance on key indicators remains satisfactory.   

 Highway Skills Academy – Current focus is on the formation of a development/career path 

for those staff which are progressing through their apprenticeships in order that GCC 

retains the investment in time, funds and skills.  First Level 4 (HNC equivalent) Apprentice 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37008&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41396&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41106&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=40377&Opt=0


 

 

has been appointed and now progressing opportunities for the same Level 4 course for 

existing members of the team.  First cohort of 12 no. Level 4 apprentices start their training 

over the summer with a second cohort planned to follow. 

 Awards – submissions made for CIHT Active Travel (London Road), CIHT Structures (A38 

Canal Bridges) and ICE Structures (A38 Canal Bridges) awards.  A38 Canal Bridges 

shortlisted for the ICE award. 

 
2.2 Highways Delivery 

 Depots/property – development of strategic plan for highways depots included in 21/22 

Service Plan in order to ensure facilities are fit for purpose. 

 Ash die back – continued programme in 21/22 including planting programme to ensure that 

two trees are planted for each one felled with ash die back disease.  Discussions are 

underway with external organisations such as National Trust and others to identify larger 

woodland planting schemes off the public highway.  

 

2.3 Major Projects 
 

J10 
 Non-statutory public consultation results now published.  Preferred Route Announcement 

took place on 16th June 2021 along with associated communications and publication via 

GCC website. 

 Land agents appointed to progress land acquisition and negotiations in partnership with 

GCC Property.   

 Claims to date total just over £10m including ‘historic claim’ claw back.  

 
A435 Capacity Improvements 

 Preparing to go out to tender on capacity improvements on A435 between Cheltenham and 

Bishops Cleeve.  Funding/need associated with local housing developments. 

 

A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse) 
 Works substantially complete. 

Ashchurch Bridge over Rail (Delivery for Tewkesbury Borough Council) 
 Planning permission for the bridge has been granted. Detailed design continues (Atkins). 

 Works continue with Tewkesbury Borough Council and Network Rail to understand the 

complexities of the legal agreements required for the construction phase. 

 

GSWB / Llanthony Road 
 Planning permission granted April 2019; 

 Public Inquiry decision announced in early April by the DfT for the CPO process – this is 

subject to a 6 week Judicial Review Period and a Notice of Intent Period which extends until 

Autumn 2021. 

 Advance preparatory works have commenced and signage is in place for information. 

 Planning application in with GCC for change of use (part of City Business Centre to become 

car park for displaced parking) 

 Bat Survey completed in May 2021, which highlighted no licencing requirements 

 The Llanthony Priory Access works have been completed in April 2021, signage has been 

used to promote the completion of this phase. 

Page 54



 

 

 Arrangements are being made to prepare tender documents for the City Business Centre 

demolition contract. 

 

West Cheltenham / Cyber £22M 
 Work started on site for Phases 1 and 2 in June 2020 and works are currently on 

programme to be completed by Summer 2021. 

 The Phase 3 and 4 Design and Build contract started in January 2021 and is due to be 

completed in early Spring 2022. 

 Highways England’s safety critical works at Staverton Bridge and M5 Junction 11 are 

underway with Arle Court forming part of the M5J11 diversion route, whilst this has resulted 

in an increase in stakeholder contact there has been no impact on the Phase 1 & 2 works 

programme, largely due to reduced traffic volumes during covid restrictions. 

 
3.0 Community & Infrastructure  
 
3.1 DfT Emergency Active Travel Fund  

 Tranche 2: (B4063 Chelt-Glos cycle route): Following criticism last summer of (historic) 

plans for this route further design work has been done by the council’s consultants, Atkins. 

The amended plans are more compliant with recent government guidance on designing for 

cycling (LTN 1/20) and were well received in a public consultation in February and March. 

To make the route as attractive as possible we have invited a critical friend panel to review 

the design. This work is underway. 

 A £231k revenue bid has been submitted to the DfT’s Local Authority Capability Fund for a 

programme of active travel activities in 2021/22. This will support the development of an 

ambitious and high-quality local cycling and walking infrastructure plan (LCWIP) compliant 

with LTN 1/20, work on a pipeline of schemes and engagement with communities including 

employers and schools. We are waiting for an announcement from the DfT. 

3.2 ITU Public Transport and School Transport 
 As part of its “Bus Back Better” strategy to increase the proportion of trips made on public 

transport the government has provided a Coronavirus Bus Service Support Grant (CBSSG) 

scheme for bus operators whose incomes have been hit hard by travel restrictions and 

social distancing rules. The DfT has informed us that this CBSSG fund will end at the end of 

August and will be replaced by a £226.5m Recovery Funding package. We are awaiting 

detail on exactly what this new fund means for Gloucestershire, all public transport 

operators are aware of the imminent changes. Work on the Bus Service Improvement Plan 

also continues at pace. 

 September Service Changes – Stagecoach have registered a series of changes to public 

services mainly in and around the Stroud and Dursley area. They are also going to host a 

series of public events in the next two weeks to inform the public of these changes, a 

member of the ITU public transport team will also attend to understand the information 

being delivered and the public reaction. 

 As per recent guidelines and the relaxation of capacity restrictions, schools returning in 

September will be provided with their normal pre-Covid level of transport. The additional 

funding from the DfE that paid for the extra capacity has also ended. We will continue to 

strongly advise the wearing of face coverings on board by both drivers and pupils. 

 
3.3 Sustainability 

 We are focusing work on development and implementation of measures in the Climate 

Change Action Plan. These include the Tree Strategy, funding bids, transitioning from fossil 

Page 55



 

 

fuels to an electric fleet and rolling out 1000 EV charge points. The team will be expanding 

this autumn following success in recruiting to two posts: a new Climate Change and Air 

Quality officer post and a shared post with Waste which will concentrate on engagement 

and encouraging sustainable behaviours. 

 

3.4 Highways Development Management 
 The HDM Improvement Plan is being implemented with vertical teams delivering a personal 

geographic service to the LPA’s. On the policy front the new Planning Policy Framework 

has been published with a much stronger emphasis on delivery of street trees to help tackle 

climate change. This will necessitate a review of the Manual for Gloucestershire Streets 

and commuted sums for maintenance. 

 

 

4.0 Strategic Infrastructure 
 
4.1 B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester 

 The original HE scheme, in order to fulfil funding criteria, needed to be completed by March 

2020. This, however, was subsequently extended to construction starting in 2021, as part of 

the RIS2 process. GCC officers continue to engage with HE’s Route Manager to attempt to 

ensure everything is ‘joined up’.  

 GCC has decided to take over the detailed design of this project, with the design fully 

underway with the East part of the route designed and consulted upon in Spring 2021, an 

independent audit has now been completed by a leading industry expert to ensure we 

provide the best possible facility we can within the constraints.  The audit findings have led 

to extensive enhancement of the provision, which have been heavily endorsed by Sustrans 

to the extent that they are due to become a major funding provider for the scheme,  

 Works are expected to start in late 2021, delivering the east part of the route first. 

 This scheme will have the key advantage of directly linking the project to the emerging 

£22M West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) providing a continuous 

link between Gloucester and Cheltenham rail station once complete and include the 

recently successfully delivered Emergency Active Travel Scheme on London Road in 

Gloucester. The GFirst LEP Board, in December 2020, agreed that any future underspend 

on the £22M WCTIS would be ringfenced to the B4063 cycle scheme. Prior to this, in 

November 2020, £864k was secured from an EATF Tranche 2 bid from the Department for 

Transport (DfT), which will part fund a section of the works.  We have submitted a DfT 

Levelling Up fund to deliver the scheme in its entirety.   

 

4.2 M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) 
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the DfT 

in January 2020; 

 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should 

progress to the next stage; 

 This is to progress to the Outline Business Case – the cost of which is likely to be £2M-£3M 

– part of the funding came from the approved £4M GCC funding for ‘business case 

development’ in 2020/21; 

 The progression of the scheme was considered and approved by GCC Cabinet on 24th 

March 2021;  

 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and Tewkesbury 

BC due to the links to the emerging ‘garden town’; 

Page 56



 

 

 Ongoing discussions with HE to secure approval of options for Junction 9; 

 Detailed HE feedback has been received and is currently being analysed by officers and 

Atkins.  

 

4.3 Digital connectivity 

 Cabinet considered and approved the latest, revised Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2019-

2022 in December 2019; 

 This is now being implemented, with a view to securing solutions for ‘the final 3%’.  

 
4.4 A417 Missing Link 

 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019; 

 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019; 

 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, TBC 

and GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019; 

 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding and 

should progress to DCO; 

 Revised proposals were subject to a further public consultation, which started on 12th 

October 2020. A detailed GCC officer response was sent, meeting the external deadline of 

12th November 2020; 

 The DCO planning application has now been submitted in June 2021 and is currently being 

considered by the Planning Inspectorate.  

 

4.5 Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
 The LTP was adopted at Full Council on 17th March 2021. 

4.6  Chepstow Transport Improvements 
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options; 

 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress to Full Business Cases; 

 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K (2020/21) 

towards Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study; 

 A possible further GCC financial contribution for 2021/22 is currently being considered. 

 

4.7 Cinderford  
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of phase one 

of the road; 

 A Section 73 amendment to vary the existing planning permission has been submitted in 

April 2021 and is awaiting determination by FoDDC; 

 Until planning and funding is in place, no further action for GCC.  

 

4.8 Local Plans / JCS / CIL 
 Review of JCS now underway following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which ended 

in January 2019; 

 The JCS Reg.18 consultation is anticipated in Autumn 2021; 

 Progress has been made with the JCS authorities to review the JCS CIL – consultants have 

now been appointed to undertake this task; 

 GCC education and library contributions continue to be challenged and declined by some 

District Councils and developers – these are in the process of being reviewed by GCC; 

 GCC continues to not receive a penny of CIL from any of the JCS authorities; 

Page 57



 

 

 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. 

Significant officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- the 

significant proposed development at Sharpness. Another SDC consultation took place with 

additional possible housing sites, which was responded to in December 2020. The most 

recent public consultation stage (pre-submission draft consultation) ended on 21st July 

2021. GCC officer comments were submitted prior to the deadline. 

 Cotswold Local Plan – Adopted in August 2018; 

 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 2019. 

FoDDC consulted on a ‘preferred option’ – the closing date for comments was 29th January 

2021. GCC officers commented before this deadline.  

 

5.0 Libraries & Registration 
 
5.1 Libraries 

 Library opening hours are almost all back to their pre-pandemic patterns.  There are a 

handful of libraries that are still not able to open their full hours due to recruitment to 

vacancies. 

 The Summer Reading challenge launched on 10th July 2021 – the theme this year is Wild 

World Heroes with the Reading Agency partnering with the World Wildlife Fund – this year 

has an emphasis on wildlife and protecting the environment. 

 Two expressions of interest have been submitted to the Libraries Improvement Fund – part 

of the Government’s levelling up fund.  One of the projects based around provision in 

Oakley, Cheltenham has been invited to submit a full bid with a closing date of 23rd 

September 2021. 

 

5.2 Registration  
 Ceremonies are extremely busy – wedding and civil partnership ceremonies that were 

performed in July were up by 53% on our last full year in 2019/20. 

 Due to the ongoing works in Shire Hall we urgently need to find an alternative location for 

the delivery of citizenship ceremonies.  Prior to the pandemic these were held in the 

Coroner’s Court but the Coroner has advised that we cannot use this facility for the 

foreseeable future. 

 
6.0 Waste Management  
 

 Waiting times for an appointment to visit a Household Recycling Centre (HRC) by car 

remain low. Next day appointments are currently available at four of the sites (as of 

16.40pm, 4th August). There is a two day wait at Pyke Quarry. 

 Customer Surveys have been completed at the HRCs during July to monitor customer 

satisfaction with the booking system, site staff and the facilities. A report will be available in 

August. 

 The new contract for the management of the HRC service with Ubico comes in to effect on 

7th August, with the team working with Legal Services colleagues to complete the contract. 

 Work continues on the procurement of new materials off-take contracts for the various 

waste streams collected for reuse, recycling and recovery at the HRCs. There are currently 

28 different contracts in place, which are to be retendered and awarded ahead of contract 

commencement on 1st April 2022. The duration of these new contracts will be synchronised 

with the duration of the new Ubico management contract. 

Page 58



 

 

 Preparation continues for the annual two-week maintenance outage at the Gloucestershire 

Energy from Waste facility. The outage is scheduled to commence on 30th August. Covid 

safe working practices will be used (regardless of the prevailing national advice).  

 The visitor and education centre at the Energy from Waste facility, which has remained 

closed throughout the pandemic, has now reopened.  

 A soft marketing testing exercise was completed in July with potential providers for the sale 

of electricity generated by the Energy from Waste Facility. This service is currently provided 

by EDF, which is under contract with the council until 2023. The work will be coordinated 

with the procurement of an energy buying service for the council (which is currently 

provided by WME). Discussions focussed on the optimum length of the contract, providers 

willingness to take on the risk on the volume of electricity generated by the plant (the 

council bears the price risk) and how future developments such as a heat off-take 

arrangement with a neighbour to the plant might be accommodated. 

 A contract has been agreed with Cheltenham B.C to allow them to deliver waste from their 

trade waste rounds to the Energy from Waste Facility. The waste is currently landfilled. The 

contract offers CBC a saving over its current landfill arrangements and provides full cost 

recovery for GCC.  

 

7.0 Employment and Skills  
 

7.1  Adult Education Service 

 Since the implementation of the new staffing structure (commenced 1st September), good 

progress is being made with staff being embedded into new roles. The transition from old to 

new is progressing very well despite Covid-19 related challenges. An internal full review of 

our current processes and procedures is still underway to enable the Service to continue 

making improvements (streamlining, efficiency gains and cost savings). Full impact of the 

changes will not be shown from a working point of view until full service is up and running 

post Covid restrictions but so far staff are embracing the process well.  

 Staff Questionnaire was been sent out to all AES staff to ascertain how they felt about 

returning to work post Covid restrictions and with a view to continuing AGILE working.  

Majority of staff are keen to return to 3 days a week in the office and 2 days a week working 

from home.  This will work well for the provision provided there is enough desk space in the 

office to allow for this post Covid.  Discussions will take place with the team over the 

coming weeks to work out how the GCC Agile Working changes will fit around our service 

delivery. 

 It is likely that longer-term the Service will retain more of a blended learning approach 

combining online and face-to-face learning, although this remains challenging with 

Community learning, we continued through the second and third lockdowns to provide face 

to face learning to those most vulnerable and facing digital poverty, which has seen all 

classes at capacity with 6 learners (socially distanced). The third lockdown led to 80% of 

our provision moving online, with only 20% of courses taking place face to face to support 

those who are facing extreme vulnerability with digital skills and mental health/wellbeing. 

 Full process review is being undertaken by the new HoS to standardise procedures across 

the department, this includes new observation, enrolment and course development 

procedures and processes to allow for better Ofsted and Matrix readiness. 

 Our current subcontractor framework is due to end with our 5 current subcontractors on 

July 31st 2021, and we would now like to go out to tender again (new ESFA 21/22 

allocation, has been announced and detailed below).  Documents have been submitted for 

Page 59



 

 

Cabinet review at the June meeting to ensure that this process is completed by the 

deadline and service is not disrupted. 

 ESFA funding allocation has been announced for 21/22 as follows: 

 

o Total £2,616,429 grant 1 – August 21 – March 22 - £1,639,193, grant 2 – April 22 – July 

22 - £977,236 

 

o Distribution of grant as follows: 

 Adult Skills Allocation - £536,481 

 Community Learning Allocation - £2,064,048 

 National Skills Fund (Level 3 offer over 24yr) - £15,900 

 

o Advanced Learner Loans for 2021-2022 
 Total - £20,128 (August 21-March 22 - £12,715, April 22- July 22 - £7,413) 

 
o Planned Community Learning Allocation (total £2,064,048) 

 Subcontractors - £499,999 
 Direct Delivery - £1,564,049 

 

- REPORT END -  

Page 60



Quarter 1 2021/22

Purpose of the report
To provide a strategic overview of the Council's performance for Quarter 1 2021/22.

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance and Improvement Team

Page number
Key to Symbols 2
Highways & Flood 3
Environment & Planning 4
Strategic Risk Register Summary 5

Environment  Scrutiny Committee

1

P
age 61



Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with the Likelihood of each risk)

Risk Symbols
Risk Value Increasing
Risk Value Decreasing
No Change

Measure Symbols
Performance Better than Target
Performance Worse than Target
Performance significantly worse than Target
No information
Missing Target
No Value

Bigger is Better A bigger value for this measure is good
Smaller is Better A smaller value for this measure is good
Plan is best Where it is better for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Key to Symbols

2

P
age 62



Highways

Cllr Vernon Smith

Highways

% of 2 hour emergency repairs made on time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 98.0% 99.0% 98.0% 98.0% 100.0% 96.0% n/a
% of 24 hour defects repaired on time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 99.0% 99.0% 100.0% 100.0% 99.0% 96.0% n/a
% of 28 day defects repaired or made safe in time Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 98.0% 99.0% 100.0% 95.0% 96.0% 95.0% n/a
% of structural maintenance programme delivered Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 44.0% 73.0% 87.0% 99.0% 32.0% 25.0% n/a

Overall resident satisfaction with Highways network Bigger is Better Annual 53.0% 52.0% 51.0% 52.0% 52.0% 52.0% n/a

% of principal roads where maintenance should be considered Smaller is Better Annual 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
% of the Nonprincipal classified roads where maintenance
should be considered

Smaller is Better Annual 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun20 Sep20 Dec20 Mar21
Actual
Jun21

Target
Jun21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Dec16 Dec17 Dec18 Dec19
Actual
Dec20

Target
Dec20

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar20 Mar20 Mar20 Mar21
Actual
Mar21

Target
Mar21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Floods

% delivery of the annual gully emptying programme (as
published on the website)

Bigger is Better Latest Quarter 48.0% 81.0% 97.0% 100.0% 32.0% 25.0% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun20 Sep20 Dec20 Mar21
Actual
Jun21

Target
Jun21

Comments
Comparator
Group

3

P
age 63

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Environment and Planning

Cllr David Gray

Climate Change

Council Carbon Emissions, buildings & transport (exc schools)
Tonnes of CO2e

Smaller is Better Year to Date 7,704.79 1,118.52 2,192.78 4,228.60 6,442.05 7,249.00 n/a

Renewable energy generation (kWh) from the Councils Estate
(exc schools)

Bigger is Better Year to Date 28,054,687 13,692,113 29,818,032 44,700,725 62,550,827 n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar20 Jun20 Sep20 Dec20
Actual
Mar21

Target
Mar21

Comments
Comparator
Group

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Mar20 Jun20 Sep20 Dec20 Actual Mar21 Comments
Comparator
Group

Waste

Residual household waste per household (Kgs) Smaller is Better Forecast 440 446 464 451 461 479
% of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and
composting

Bigger is Better Forecast 52.7% 52.7% 52.0% 50.9% 50.7% 51.0%

% of waste diverted from landfill Bigger is Better Forecast 97.4% 97.1% 97.2% 97.1% 97.4% 92.8% n/a

Good Performance High/Low Reporting Basis Jun20 Sep20 Dec20 Mar21
Actual
Jun21

Target
Jun21

Comments
Comparator
Group

4

P
age 64

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')


Strategic Risk

Strategic Risk Register

SR12.1

Failure to deliver the county council’s climate change strategy,
impacting our ability to deliver our organisation, partnership
and community activities, and to mitigate the impacts of a
changing climate on Gloucestershire’s natural environment,
communities, business and visitors.

Chick, Colin High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 High 15 High 15

In 2019 the council declared a Climate Emergency and Cabinet approved a
Climate Change Strategy with a five year rolling action plan. This was reviewed
by Cabinet in December 2020 and officers are progressing the delivery of
individual actions. This is on the Environment Scrutiny Committee work plan and
the next annual review will be considered by Cabinet in December 2021.

SR14.1 Emergence of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Chick, Colin High 16 Moderate 9 High 16 High 16 High 16 High 16

CIL continues to be a major concern for GCC. We continue to monitor all 5 of the
District Councils who have implemented CIL. The JCS CIL is currently in the
process of being reviewed. GCC produces an Infrastructure Funding Statement
each December outlining our receipts and expenditure. This issue will be
considered at GCC's Environment Scrutiny Committee on 14th July 2021.

Strategic Risk 12: Climate Change

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Jun20 Sep20 Dec20 Mar21
Actual
Jun21

DoT Jun
21

Comments

Strategic Risk 14: Community Infrastructure Levy

Risk Owner
Inherent
Risk

Jun20 Sep20 Dec20 Mar21
Actual
Jun21

DoT Jun
21

Comments

5

P
age 65

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col11')


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	14.7.21
	Minutes


	4 Maintenance and repair of highways
	5 Motion 876 - Call to adopt 20mph maximum speeds in areas where vulnerable road users and vehicles mix
	6 Work Plan
	7 Director's Report: Economy, Environment and Infrastructure
	ENV Scrutiny Q1 31.8.21


